
 

For information relating to this meeting or to request a copy in another format or 
language please contact: 

Democratic Services, Town Hall, Castle Circus, Torquay, TQ1 3DR  
(01803) 207016 

Email: democratic.services@torbay.gov.uk 

(i) 

 

 

Wednesday, 4 January 2012 
 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 

A meeting of Standards Committee will be held on 
 

Thursday, 12 January 2012 
 

commencing at 2.30 pm 
 

The meeting will be held in the Meadfoot Room, Town Hall, Castle Circus, 
Torquay, TQ1 3DR 

 
 
 
 

Members of the Committee 
 

Torbay Council 

Councillors Addis, Doggett, McPhail and Stocks 

Brixham Town Council 

Town Councillors Boote, Lomas and Henderson 

Independent Members 

Messers Heath, Dalzell, Bastow, Branch, Hutchinson 

 

 

Our vision is working for a healthy, prosperous and happy Bay 



(ii) 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
AGENDA 

 
1.   Apologies 

To receive apologies for absence, including notifications of any 
changes to the membership of the Committee. 
 

 

2.   Minutes 
To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of the 
Board held on 9 June 2011. 
 

(Pages 1 - 4) 

3.   Declarations of interest 
 

 

(a)   To receive declarations of personal interests in respect of items on 
this agenda 
 
For reference:  Having declared their personal interest members and 
officers may remain in the meeting and speak (and, in the case of 
Members, vote on the matter in question).  If the Member’s interest only 
arises because they have been appointed to an outside body by the 
Council (or if the interest is as a member of another public body) then the 
interest need only be declared if the Member wishes to speak and/or vote 
on the matter.  A completed disclosure of interests form should be 
returned to the Clerk before the conclusion of the meeting. 
 

 

(b)   To receive declarations of personal prejudicial interests in respect of 
items on this agenda 
 
For reference:  A Member with a personal interest also has a prejudicial 
interest in that matter if a member of the public (with knowledge of the 
relevant facts) would reasonably regard the interest as so significant that it 
is likely to influence their judgement of the public interest.  Where a 
Member has a personal prejudicial interest he/she must leave the meeting 
during consideration of the item.  However, the Member may remain in the 
meeting to make representations, answer questions or give evidence if the 
public have a right to do so, but having done so the Member must then 
immediately leave the meeting, may not vote and must not improperly 
seek to influence the outcome of the matter.  A completed disclosure of 
interests form should be returned to the Clerk before the conclusion of the 
meeting. 

 
(Please Note:  If Members and Officers wish to seek advice on any 
potential interests they may have, they should contact Democratic 
Services or Legal Services prior to the meeting.) 
 

 

4.   Urgent items 
To consider any other items that the Chairman decides are urgent. 
 

 

5.   Communications 
To receive any communications or announcements from the 
Chairman of the Committee. 
 

 



(iii) 

6.   Update on Standards 
To consider a report which provides Members with an update on the 
Standards regime. 
 

(Pages 5 - 18) 

7.   Survey of Public Attitudes Towards Conduct in Public Life 2010 
To consider a report that presents findings of a national survey of 
public attitudes towards the standards of conduct of public office 
holders. 
 

(Pages 19 - 70) 

8.   Work Programme 
To consider the Standards Committee Work Programme and 
discuss the practical implications of the work plan and determine the 
allocation of tasks and deadlines. 
 
 

(Pages 71 - 72) 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

Minutes of the Standards Committee 

 
9 June 2011 

 
-: Present :- 

 
Councillors Doggett, Addis and McPhail 

 
Brixham Town Councillors Henderson 

 
Independent Members Dalzell, Bastow, Branch and Hutchinson 

 
(Also in attendance:  Councillor Bobbie Davies)  

 
 

 
60. Election of Chairman/woman  

 
Mr Heath was elected as Chairman for the 2011/2012 Municipal Year, in his 
absence. 
 
 
 

61. Appointment of Vice-Chairman  
 
Mr Dalzell was elected as Vice-Chairman for the 2011/2012 Municipal Year. 
 
 
 

62. Apologies  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Stocks and Independent 
Member Mr Heath. 
 
 
 

63. Minutes  
 
The Minutes of the meeting of the Standards Committee held on 24 November 
2010 were confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 
 

64. Terms of Reference of Standards Committee and Appointment of Standards 
Sub-Committees  
 
Members received and noted the terms of reference for the Standards Committee, 
as detailed in the Report. 

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



Standards Committee 
 

Thursday, 9 June 2011 
 

 
 
Resolved: 
 

1) that a Referrals Sub-Committee be established with the membership 
and Terms of Reference set out in the Report; 

 
2) that a Review Sub-Committee be established with the membership and 

Terms of Reference set out in the Report; 
 

3) that a Hearings Sub-Committee be established with the membership 
and Terms of Reference set out in the Report;  

 
4) that a Standards Appointments Sub-Committee be established with the 

membership and Terms of Reference set out in the Report; 
 
 
 

65. Finding Against The Council of Maladministration Causing Injustice in 
Relation to Bankruptcy Proceedings in Response to Council Tax Debt  
 
Members received a report from the Ombudsman detailing the finding of 
maladministration causing injustice against the Council, in that bankruptcy 
proceedings were taken against the complainant in response to a Council Tax debt 
without having proper regard to the personal circumstance of the complainant, in 
particular his mental health. 
 
Members discussed the findings, highlighting the areas of communication, 
documentation and accountability as areas of concern, and suggested that a policy 
document for collection of Council assets should be developed. 
 
The Committee agreed with the conclusions in the report. 
 
 

66. Devon Wide Code  
 
Members discussed the abolition of the standards regime and the proposal to 
develop a ‘Devon wide’ voluntary code in its place.  The Committee agreed that if it 
was decided to adopt a ‘Devon wide’ code then Independent Members must be 
included to ensure impartiality of process but they also expressed concern at the 
lack of legislative enforcement behind any new code. 
 
Members also discussed the Group Rules that they must abide by, and whether 
these would be enough going forward, however, it was felt that a decision could not 
be made on this until the Groups had discussed it and seen more information on 
the possible structure of a unified code. 
 
The Elected Members agreed to bring the options to the attention of their Groups 
for discussion and feedback to the next Standards Committee. 

Page 2



Standards Committee 
 

Thursday, 9 June 2011 
 

 
 
 

67. Standards Committee Work Programme  
 
The Committee reviewed the proposed work programme for the coming municipal 
year as set out in Appendix 1 to the Report. 
 
Resolved: 
 

1) that, due to the imminent changes to the standards regime, it would retain 
the programme from the previous year 

 
2) to set up a Sub-Committee to review the work programme should there be 

any necessary changes to make.  The membership of the Sub-Committee 
would be Councillor Doggett and Independent Members Mr Dalzell and Mr 
Branch. 

 
 

68. Statistics  
 
The Committee reviewed the basic statistics regarding the number of complaints 
received in the 2010/11 Municipal Year and the results, as set out in the Report.  It 
was noted that the one complaint that had been delayed due to the election had 
now been dealt with, and the Committee was pleased to see that the number of 
complaints deemed to require no further action had risen from three to six. 
 
The Committee noted the Report. 
 
 

69. Observation Reports  
 
The Committee considered the Observation Reports produced by the Independent 
Members with their observations of different committee meetings.  It was hoped that 
these reports were constructive, and Elected Members agreed that they had been 
helpful, particularly for those in the Chair. 
 
The Committee noted the Report. 
 
 

Page 3



Page 4

This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
 

  Public Agenda Item: Yes 
   
Title: Update on Standards 
  

Wards Affected: None 
  

To: Standards Committee On: 12 January 2012 

    
Contact Officer: Anthony Butler 
℡ Telephone: 01803 207155 
�  E.mail: anthony.butler@torbay.gov.uk 
 

 

1. Key points and Summary 
 
1.1 Members were presented with a report in November 2010 on the future of the 
Standards regime.  As members will be aware the Localism Bill has now received royal 
assent as the Localism Act 2011.  The new standards regime is partly laid out in the 
Act however the regulations to supplement the Act are awaited and these will also bring 
the relevant parts of the Act into force.  This report aims to update members on the 
future of the Standards regime. 
 

2. Current Understanding 
 
The government still intend that the new regime is to be in force for all English local 
authorities by 31 March 2012.  Attached at Appendix A is a briefing note produced by 
Eversheds which provides a useful overview of the requirements of the new regime and 
the current position of local authorities in England.  Attached at Appendix B is a draft 
code of conduct produced by the Association of County Secretaries and Solicitors 
(ACSeS) which was drafted before the full details that were eventually included in the 
Act became apparent.  There is a meeting of the monitoring officers of all the Devon 
authorities in early February to discuss the adoption of a ‘Devonwide’ Code of Conduct 
which may (subject to the comments of the committee in respect of the attached draft 
code) follow the draft produced by ACSeS. 
 

3. Actions 
 
Members are asked to comment on the amendments to the legislation and the draft 
code of conduct provided in order to help inform the Council in adopting its code of 
conduct.   

 
Anthony Butler 
Monitoring Officer 

Agenda Item 6

Page 5



  

Appendix A 
 

LA Law Localism Act 2011 - The new Standards regime – briefing note from 
Eversheds Solicitors 

During the passage of the Localism Bill, the issue of standards proved to be one of 
its most controversial aspects and one of the very last matters to be finalised 
before Royal Assent on 15th November 2011.  The roots of this controversy go 
back to the introduction of a national regime under the Local Government Act 2000 
when a mandatory Code of Conduct was introduced; the Standards Board for 
England was created and given custody of a national process.  (In Wales 
responsibility was given to the Ombudsman).  Many elected members resented 
what they saw as a stifling regime and there was particular concern about the 
apparent differences in the regime affecting local authority members and MPs.  
This view was reinforced by the scandal surrounding MPs expenses.  Subsequent 
changes, to try to impart more local accountability, did not move the critics and this, 
coupled with a topical concern about the so called “gagging” of members wishing to 
speak on local issues, gave birth to the pressure reflected in the Coalition 
Agreement to scrap the system. 

The new standards provisions relating to local authorities in England and police 
authorities in Wales are set out in Part 1 Chapter 7 Sections 26 – 37 of and 
Schedule 4 to, the Localism Act.  These provisions apply to all “relevant 
authorities”, which are defined in section 27(6) to include both principal authorities 
and parish councils, fire and rescue authorities, economic prosperity boards, 
National Park authorities, the Broads Authority and Police Authorities in England 
and Wales, until abolition of the latter and replacement by Police and Crime 
Commissioners.  The arrangements for Welsh local authorities will not change. 

Local authority includes Police Authority but not the new Police Commissioner and 
Panel. The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 at section 31 and 
Schedule 7, allows the Secretary of State to make provision by regulations relating 
to complaints and conduct matters of Police and Crime Commissioners; Deputy 
Police and Crime Commissioners; the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime, and 
the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime. 

Every authority will be under a duty to promote and maintain high standards of 
conduct by elected and co-opted members of the authority. 

The provisions apply to elected members and co-opted members when acting as 
members.  There are no requirements in relation to private life, though 
disqualification as a result of a sentence of imprisonment for three months or more 
(whether suspended or not) in s 80 of the Local Government Act 1972 remains.  
The definition of “co-opted member” does not include non-voting members. 

Transitional provisions 

The Secretary of State may make transitional provisions by statutory instrument, 
providing that matters under investigation by the Standards Board for England be 
transferred to the relevant local authority.  The Government has now clarified the 
timetable for abolition of Standards for England in response to a parliamentary 

Page 6



  

question from Lord Greaves, (and circulated a letter with details to Monitoring 
Officers) although this is still subject to formal confirmation through regulations.  It 
is the Government’s intention that abolition will take effect on 31 March 2012.  Prior 
to this, the regulatory role in handling cases and issuing guidance will stop from a 
date that will be set out in regulations but anticipated to be 31 January 2012.  From 
this date, Standards for England will no longer have powers to accept new referrals 
from local standards committees or conduct investigations into complaints against 
members. Any existing referrals or investigations will be transferred back to the 
relevant authority for completion. However, any complaints which are being 
handled locally on that date will need to continue through to a conclusion; and 
similarly any matters relating to completed investigations or appeals that have been 
referred to the First Tier Tribunal will continue to conclusion. 

DCLG have also advised in the last few days that they envisage that the remaining 
local elements of the current regime, including statutory standards committees with 
the power to suspend councillors, will be abolished on 1 July 2012. 

From 1 July forward, all standards matters – including consideration and 
determination of outstanding complaints made during the period the Standards 
Board regime was operating - will be the responsibility of local authorities, to be 
handled under the new arrangements.  1 July will also see the new standards 
arrangements, which include a ‘Nolan-based’ code, the involvement of an 
independent person in allegations of misconduct, and a new criminal offence for 
failing to declare or register interests, coming into force. 

DCLG believe that such a timetable would seem appropriate given the timing of 
councils’ elections and annual meetings.  It also recognises that local authorities 
will have to take action to implement the changes to the standards arrangements.  
For example, authorities will need sufficient time to adopt any new code and 
procedures.  Moreover, they will need time to advertise for and then appoint an 
‘independent person’ and put in place arrangements for handling allegations of 
breaches of their code.  Finally, principal authorities will have to put in place, and 
agree, arrangements with parish councils for both a code and register of interest 
related activity. 

Standards Committees 

The special provisions for the establishment of statutory Standards Committees are 
removed in England.  Any voluntary Standards Committee or Sub-committee 
established by the authority would be an ordinary committee or sub-committee 
established under s101 and s102 of the Local Government Act 1972. The role of 
independent members will change as the new Independent Persons would not be 
able to be voting members, unless the committee or sub-committee was merely 
advisory.  Any such Standards Committee is now subject to the normal 
proportionality rules.  Standards Committees would be subject to the same 
requirements on confidential and exempt information as any other Committee 
under ss.100A to K of and Sch.12A to the Local Government Act 1972.  The 
Standards Committee would assist in discharging the duty of the authority to 
promote and maintain high standards of conduct and along with arrangements for 
regulation, albeit this is limited in scope. 

Page 7



  

The Code 

Each authority is required to adopt a Code of Conduct, which can only apply to 
members and co-opted members when acting in their capacity as a member or co-
opted member.  Private life is not covered. The powers of the Secretary of State to 
specify general principles and issue a model code are revoked, along with the 
current 10 General Principles of Conduct and the Model Code, but the Act requires 
an authority's Code to be consistent with the seven Nolan principles of conduct in 
public life. 

Authorities are free to determine what they put in or leave out of a Code though 
section  28(2) does require the inclusion of the provisions the authority considers 
appropriate in respect of the registration (in its register) and disclosure, of interests. 
Any decision to adopt a local Code must be taken at full Council, and all standards 
matters are to be non-executive functions. 

The abolition of the Model Code means that different authorities may have different 
Codes. A councillor who is a member of more than one authority is likely to be 
subject to different Codes, according to which authority he/she is currently acting 
on.  Different members of the same joint committee will be subject to the varied 
Codes of their different parent authorities. 

The requirement for members to give an undertaking to comply with the Code of 
Conduct is removed although it might be considered reasonable to expect 
compliance from responsible members of a public body!  The previous 
consequence of not being able to act as a member where the undertaking was not 
provided, has gone. 

A relevant authority (other than a parish council) must have in place arrangements 
to deal with complaints of breach of its Code of Conduct, including arrangements 
for investigation of complaints and arrangements "under which decisions on 
allegations can be made". In the case of district and unitary authorities, this also 
applies to allegations in respect of parish councillors in their areas. It is likely that 
most authorities will decide that they need a Standards Committee of some nature 
to undertake these functions at member level, even if some sanctions, such as 
removal from Committees, will have to be applied by full Council. 

District and unitary authorities are responsible for having arrangements in place to 
investigate and determine allegations against Parish Councillors but the Act does 
not provide how this might be done (other than requiring the views of an 
Independent Person).  Specifically, Parish Councils are under no obligation to have 
regard to any findings of the district or unitary authority or its Standards Committee. 

Authorities have discretion to set their own processes and to delegate more of the 
process.  There is no requirement for a review stage.  The statutory requirement for 
a hearing has gone and the authority can find that a member has broken the Code 
without even having conducted an investigation (although we would expect 
authorities to ensure that the principles of natural justice would be observed). 

There is greater scope to enable the Monitoring Officer to seek local resolution of a 
complaint before a decision is taken as to whether the complaint merits 
investigation.  This may enable the more minor or tit-for-tat complaints to be taken 

Page 8



  

out of the system without the full process previously required. We might see a 
return to the pre-2000 Act culture where Monitoring Officers and Chief Executives 
sorted things with the help of group leaders/whips. 

The Act gives no explicit powers to undertake investigations or to conduct hearings 
(any such action required would be implied as appropriate).  So there is no power 
to require access to documents or to require members or officers to attend 
interviews, and no power to require the member to attend a hearing. 

The Act gives authorities no explicit powers to take any action in respect of a 
breach of the local Code.  Authorities have been given no powers to impose 
alternative sanctions, such as requiring an apology or training.  Accordingly, other 
than naming and shaming the individual member, it is unclear whether the authority 
can take any action, beyond administrative actions to secure that it can continue to 
discharge its functions effectively.  This takes us back to reliance on R v Broadland 
DC ex parte Lashley [2001] All ER (D) 71 where the principle of local action 
through a common law standards committee and Council, to ensure no disruption 
to the proper administration of the Council’s affairs, was upheld. 

The Independent Person 

Every principal authority must appoint one or more Independent Persons. 
Independent persons would be appointed by advertisement and application and 
there are very strict rules preventing a person from being appointed if they are a 
friend or relative of any member or officer of the authority or of any Parish Council 
within the authority's area.  They can they be paid a fee and/or expenses and the 
Act provides that a person does not cease to be independent merely because such 
payments are made. 

It is believed that a person cannot be appointed as an Independent Person if they 
have within the past 5 years been a co-opted voting member of a Committee of the 
authority. This means that all existing independent co-opted members of Standards 
Committees are ineligible to be appointed as Independent Persons.  This has 
become something of an issue for local government lawyers who are debating 
whether this result was intended or even achieved by the wording of the Act.  
ACSeS is seeking legal advice on this point. 

The functions of the Independent Person are: 

• The IP must be consulted and views taken into account before the authority 
takes a decision on any allegation it has decided to investigate. 

• The IP may be consulted by the principal authority in circumstances where the 
authority is not taking a decision whether to investigate the allegation. 

• The IP may be consulted by a member of the authority against whom an 
allegation has been made. 

• The IP may be consulted by a parish councillor against whom an allegation has 
been made. 

Page 9



  

It is important to ensure that the impartiality of the Independent Person is not 
compromised by undertaking more than one of these roles where it would be 
inappropriate to do so.  Hence the appointment of more than one is sensible. 

Interests 

The Monitoring Officer is required to establish a register of members' interests for 
each authority including for parish councils within their area.  The content of any 
such register must be approved by full Council.  It must contain “disclosable 
pecuniary interests” (to be defined in Regulations) but the Act also provides that an 
authority's Code must require registration of non-disclosable pecuniary interests 
and non-pecuniary interests, for which no definition is provided as yet.  The 
absence of standard definitions of such interests, and the degree of local discretion 
creates scope for considerable local variation, so that a councillor may be subject 
to very different requirements in different capacities. 

The Monitoring Officer is responsible for ensuring that each authority's register of 
interests is kept within the principal authority's area (e.g. at the principal authority's 
offices) and on the authority's website.  For parish councils, the district or unitary 
authority's Monitoring Officer must ensure that every parish council's register is 
available for inspection within the principal authority's, rather than the parish 
council's area and, if the parish council has a website, the parish council must 
ensure that the register is accessible on that website. 

Every elected or co-opted member is required to notify the Monitoring Officer 
(within 28 days of being elected or co-opted onto the authority) of all current 
"disclosable pecuniary interests" of which they are aware, and update the register 
within 28 days of being re-elected or re-appointed.  The Secretary of State will 
prescribe by regulation what constitutes a "disclosable pecuniary interest". The Act 
provides that this will cover the interests not just of the member, but also of his/her 
spouse, civil partner or person with whom he/she lives as if they were spouses or 
civil partners, in so far as the member is aware of his/her partner's interests.  That 
feels like a return to pre-2000! 

A member may ask the Monitoring Officer to exclude from the public register any 
details which, if disclosed, might lead to a threat of violence or intimidation to the 
member or any person connected with the member, and allow the member merely 
to recite at the meeting that he /she has a disclosable pecuniary interest, rather 
than giving details of that interest. The scope of sensitive interests is slightly 
extended, from the member and members of his/her household, to cover “any 
person connected with the member”. 

Failure to register any such interest, failure to register within 28 days of election or 
co-option, or the provision of misleading information on registration without 
reasonable excuse, will be criminal offices, potentially carrying a Scale 5 fine 
and/or disqualification from being a councillor for up to five years.  Prosecution is at 
the instigation of the Director of Public Prosecutions.  Once a member has made 
the initial registration, there is no requirement to update such registrations for 
changes of circumstances, such as the acquisition of development land, unless 
and until a relevant item of business arises at a meeting which the member 
attends, (unlike the pre 2000 Act regime in s19 Local Government and Housing Act 
1989 and the regulations under that Act). 

Page 10



  

The requirement for disclosure of interests at meetings applies to the same range 
of "disclosable pecuniary interests" as the initial registration requirement, plus any 
non-disclosable pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests which the 
authority's Code requires to be disclosed. The duty to disclose only arises if the 
member is aware of the interest.  However, where the interest is already on the 
authority's register of interests, or is in the process of entry onto the register having 
been notified to the Monitoring Officer, the member is under no obligation to 
disclose the interest at the meeting, so members of the public attending meetings 
might well not be aware of a member's interests in a matter under debate unless 
he/she had also previously inspected the authority's register. Where it is an 
unregistered interest, the member is required both to disclose it at the meeting and 
to register it within 28 days of the meeting at which relevant business is considered. 

The duty to disclose arises if the member attends the meeting, as opposed to the 
present code requirement to disclose “at the commencement of” consideration of 
the matter in which the member has an interest. In future the member cannot avoid 
the need to disclose merely by withdrawing during that part of the meeting when 
the particular item of business is considered.  Failure to disclose a disclosable 
pecuniary interest is a criminal offence. There is no such sanction for failing to 
disclose non-disclosable pecuniary interests or non-pecuniary interests, even 
where disclosure is required by the authority's Code of Conduct. 

Disclosure and withdrawal, is required to cover a member’s disclosable pecuniary 
interest in any item of business at a meeting, or in any matter which he/she would 
deal with as a single executive member or ward councillor. If he/she has a 
disclosable pecuniary interest in such a matter, he/she is simply barred from 
participating in discussion or voting on the matter at the meeting, or (as a single 
member) taking any steps in respect of the matter, other than referring it to 
someone else for determination.  Participation in the discussion of the matter, or 
taking steps in respect of the matter, in the face of these prohibitions is made a 
criminal offence.  The equivalent of merely personal interests, requiring disclosure 
but not withdrawal, will be covered by the requirement for the authority's Code to 
make some provision for disclosure of non-disclosable pecuniary interests and of 
non-pecuniary interests. 

The requirement for the member to withdraw from the meeting room may be dealt 
with in the authority's standing orders. Indeed, it is left open to authorities to make 
no provision for such members to withdraw, leaving them present and liable to 
influence other members during the discussion.  This means that a member who 
fails to withdraw as required in standing orders does not commit any criminal 
offence and the sanction, if the member became disruptive, would be the standard 
provision enabling a meeting to vote to exclude such a member. 

Dispensations 

The previous grounds for dispensations, allowing members with a pecuniary 
interest to get the consent of Standards Committee to participate are extended by 
section 33.  The ground that more than 50% of the members of the body were 
conflicted out remains, but now effectively restricted to a circumstance where the 
number of members unable to participate would make the meeting inquorate.  The 
second ground, that exclusion would disturb the political composition of the 

Page 11



  

meeting and so affect the outcome of the vote remains but now dispensations may 
also be granted if: 

• every member of the authority's executive is otherwise precluded from 
participating; 

• it would be in the interests of persons living in the authority's area; and 

• the authority considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation. 

The authority may wish to delegate this function to its Standards Committee or an 
officer, but the process starts with a written request by a member or co-opted 
member, to the proper officer.  An officer would therefore need to be designated for 
the purpose, and this could for example be the Monitoring Officer or the Head of 
Paid Service. 

Pre-determination 

Section 25 introduces provisions for dealing with allegations of bias or pre-
determination or matters that otherwise raise an issue about the validity of a 
decision, where the decision-maker(s) had or appeared to have a closed mind (to 
any extent) when making the decision.  It provides that the decision maker(s) is not 
to be taken to have had a closed mind “just because” (sic) the decision-maker(s) 
had previously done anything relevant to the decision, that directly or indirectly, 
indicated what view the decision-maker took, or would or might take, in relation to a 
matter. 

The courts have, of course, gone a long way in recognising that politicians need to 
be politicians and that not all that they say is necessarily what they do at the point 
of decision making. In effect, the courts already apply a presumption against bias in 
relation to local elected representatives to enable democracy to work in the way it 
has developed, and we have seen a string of cases including National Assembly 
for Wales v Condron and another 27 November 2006 to support that proposition. 

The Government’s position is that this provision does not involve a change in the 
law, which begs the question why the section is necessary in the first place.  It is 
difficult to understand how this can be so, given that the ability of the courts to 
intervene is being curtailed by the new “presumption”. 

If the legislative presumption of “no closed mind” is applied then one must assume 
that the presumption is rebuttable.  In a situation where a member said something 
like “over my dead body” in respect of voting a particular way on an issue, the view 
must be that whilst the provision on predetermination in the Localism Act might be 
useful in giving councillors confidence about making their views on particular issues 
known, it didn’t change the legal position that if a member could be shown to have 
approached a decision with a closed mind, that could affect the validity of the 
decision.  Equally, if a member had expressed views on a particular issue but could 
show that when taking the decision they had approached this with an open mind 
and taken account of all the relevant information, they could reasonably participate 
in a valid decision.  If a member has expressed particularly extreme views, it will be 
more difficult in practice to be able to get away from the impression that they would 
approach the decision with a closed mind.  It may therefore be appropriate for 

Page 12



  

Monitoring Officers to warn members against making such extreme comments and 
to provide them with guidance. This provision is effective from 15 January 2012. 

Conclusion 

There is legitimate concern that different Codes of Conduct across principal 
councils and presumably parish councils will give rise to confusion in their 
application and understanding. As the representative bodies of principal authorities 
and parish councils respectively, there is logic in the Local Government Association 
and the National Association of Local Councils accepting leadership responsibility 
for producing uniform recommended code provisions. 

The Act does not provide a clear and cohesive framework for local government to 
work to, partly due to the haste with which some of the provisions were introduced 
at the last minute. One cannot help thinking that Parliament will have no option but 
to again review the application of standards to local government in due course.  In 
the meantime, as we await regulations local authority practitioners will endeavour, 
as always, to give effect to the new requirements. 

Page 13



  

Appendix B 
 

ACSeS Draft CODE OF CONDUCT 

 

Introduction  

This Code applies to you as a member of this authority when you act in your role as a 
member and it is your responsibility to comply with the provisions of this Code. 

 

You are a representative of this authority and the public will view you as such therefore 
your actions impact on how the authority as a whole is viewed and your actions can have 
both positive and negative impacts on the authority. 

 

This Code is based upon the “Nolan Principles – the seven principles of public life” which 
are set out at Appendix 1.  

This Code does not cover matters in respect of which the Secretary of State may, under 
the Localism Act (when in force), specifically provide that criminal sanctions will apply.  

 

Interpretation 

In this Code— 

“meeting” means any meeting of— 

(a) the authority; 

(b) the executive of the authority; 

(c) any of the authority’s or its executive’s committees, sub-committees, joint committees, 
joint sub-committees, or area committees; 

whether or not the press and public are excluded from the meeting in question by virtue of 
a resolution of members 

“member” includes a co-opted member and an appointed member. 

 

General Obligations 

 

1. When acting in your role as a member of the authority: 

 

1.1 Do treat others with respect. 

 

1.2, Do not conduct yourself in a manner which is contrary to the Council’s duty to 
promote and maintain high standards of conduct of members. 

1.3 Do not disclose information given to you in confidence by anyone, or information 

acquired by you which you believe, or ought reasonably to be aware, is of a confidential 

nature, except where— 

 (i)you have the consent of a person authorised to give it; 

Page 14



  

 (ii)you are required by law to do so; 

 (iii)the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining professional 

legal advice provided that the third party agrees not to disclose the information to any 

other person; or 

 (iv)the disclosure is— 

  (aa)reasonable and in the public interest; and 

  (bb)made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable   

 requirements of the authority; and 

  (cc) you have consulted the Monitoring Officer prior to its release; or 

 

1.4 Do not prevent another person from gaining access to information to which that 

person is entitled by law. 

 

2. When using or authorising the use by others of the resources of the authority— 

 

2.1 Do act in accordance with the authority’s reasonable requirements including the 
requirements of the authority’s ITC policy and the policies listed at appendix 3, copies of  
which have been provided to you and which you are deemed to have read ; 

2.2 Do make sure that such resources are not used improperly for political purposes 
(including party political purposes); and 

2.3 Do have regard to any applicable Local Authority Code of Publicity made under the 
Local Government Act 1986. 

 

Interests [Subject to localism Bill] 

3. As a public figure, your public role may, at times, overlap with your personal and/or 

professional life and interests however when performing your public role as a member, Do 
act solely in terms of the public interest and Do not act in a manner to gain financial or 
other material benefits for yourself, your family, your friends, your employer or in relation to 
your business interests. 

4. There will be no requirement for you to declare or register any gifts and hospitality; 

however Do not accept any gifts or hospitality in excess of £50.00 (Fifty Pounds). 

 

Disclosure and participation [Dependant on contents of interests Above] 

5. At a meeting where any such issues arise,  Do declare any personal and/or professional 
interests relating to your public duties and Do to take steps to resolve any conflicts arising 
in a way that protects the public interest.   

6. Certain types of decisions, including those relating to a permission, licence, consent or 
registration for yourself, your friends, your family members, your employer or your 
business interests, are so closely tied to your personal and/or professional life that your 
ability to make a decision in an impartial manner in your role as a member may be called 

Page 15



  

into question and in turn raise issues about the validity of the decision of the authority. Do 
not become involved in these decisions any more than a member of the public in the same 

personal and/or professional position as yourself is able to be and  Do not  vote in relation 
to such matters.  

7. There are some decisions that your authority will need to make that could affect every 

member. A list of these is set out at Appendix 2. You may take part in these decisions 
unless you fall into one of the exceptions set out in the list.    

8. Do not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of your role as a member for 
the advancement of yourself, your friends, your family members, your employer or your 
business interests. 

 

Pre-determination or bias [Subject to Localism Bill provisions]  

 

9.  Where you have been involved in campaigning in your political role on an issue which 
does not impact on your personal and/or professional life you should not be prohibited 

from participating in a decision in your political role as member, however Do not place 
yourself under any financial or other obligation to outside individuals or organisations that 
might seek to influence you in the performance of your official duties. 

10 When making a decision, Do consider the matter with an open mind and on the facts 
before the meeting at which the decision is to be taken. 

 

Interests arising in relation to overview and scrutiny committees [Subject to 
Localism Bill provisions]  

 

11. In relation to any business before an overview and scrutiny committee of the authority 
(or of a sub-committee of such a committee) where— 

11.1 that business relates to a decision made (whether implemented or not) or action 
taken by your authority’s executive or another of your authority’s committees, sub-
committees, joint committees or joint sub-committees; and 

11.2 at the time the decision was made or action was taken, you were a member of the 
executive, committee, sub-committee, joint committee or joint sub-committee mentioned in 
paragraph 11.1 and you were present when that decision was made or action was taken; 

Or 

11.3 that business relates to a decision made (whether implemented or not) or action 
taken by you (whether by virtue of the Council’s constitution or under delegated authority 
from the Leader); 

You may attend a meeting of the overview and scrutiny committee of your authority or of a 
sub-committee of such a committee but only for the purpose of making representations, 
answering questions or giving evidence relating to the business, provided that the public 
are also allowed to attend the meeting for the same purpose, whether under a statutory 
right or otherwise. 

 

 

 

Page 16



  

APPENDIX 1 

 

THE SEVEN PRINCIPLES OF PUBLIC LIFE 

 

SELFLESSNESS 

 Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest.  They should 
not do so in order to gain financial or other material benefits for themselves, their 
family, or their friends. 

 

INTEGRITY 

 Holders of public office should not place themselves under any financial or other 
obligation to outside individuals or organisations that might seek to influence them in 
the performance of their official duties. 

 

OBJECTIVITY 

 In carrying out public business, including making public appointments, awarding 
contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards and benefits, holders of public 
office should make choices on merit. 

 

ACCOUNTABILITY 

 Holders of public office are accountable for their decisions and actions to the public 
and must submit themselves to whatever scrutiny is appropriate to their office.  

 

OPENNESS 

 Holders of public office should be as open as possible about all the decisions and 
actions that they take.  They should give reasons for their decisions and restrict 
information only when the wider public interest clearly demands. 

 

HONESTY 

 Holders of public office have a duty to declare any private interests relating to their 
public duties and to take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that protects 
the public interest. 

 

LEADERSHIP 

 Holders of public office should promote and support these principles by leadership 
and example. 

        

 

 

 

 

Page 17



  

APPENDIX 2 

Where the decision referred to in Clause 7 above relates to one of the functions of the 
authority set out below, and the condition which follows that function does not apply to you 
when making that decision, you may participate in the decision:   

(i)housing, where you are a tenant of your authority unless those functions relate 
particularly to your tenancy or lease; 

(ii)school meals or school transport and travelling expenses, where you are a parent or 
guardian of a child in full time education, or are a parent governor of a school, unless it 
relates particularly to the school which the child attends; 

(iii)statutory sick pay under Part XI of the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 
1992, where you are in receipt of, or are entitled to the receipt of, such pay; 

(iv)an allowance, payment or indemnity given to members; 

(v)any ceremonial honour given to members; and 

(vi)setting council tax or a precept under the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 

 

Page 18



Survey of public attitudes 
towards conduct in 
public life 2010

September 2011

Prepared for the Committee on Standards in Public Life by Dr Maria Grasso 
and the Committee’s Research Advisory Board with the assistance 
of Jonathan Rose, using data collected by TNS-BMRB through the TNS CAPI 
OmniBus survey.

Agenda Item 7

Page 19



Page 20



3

Contents

CONTENTS

Foreword by Chairman of the Committee, Sir Christopher Kelly 5

Introduction  6

Executive Summary 8

1 Overall Perceptions of Standards in Public Life 12

2 Trust in Public Office Holders to Tell the Truth 16

3 Expectations and Perceptions of Westminster MPs 20

4 MPs and Voting in Parliament 29

5 Public Office Holders and Accountability 36

6 Political Party Funding 39

7 An Overview 43

Technical Appendix 49

Page 21



4

Survey of public attitudes towards conduct in public life 2010

Page 22



5

Foreword

I am delighted to publish this report on the 
Committee’s fourth biennial national survey  
into public attitudes towards conduct in  
public life. The data was collected by TNS-BMRB 
Social Research between 29 December 2010 and 
4 January 2011.
 
This fourth survey offers the opportunity 
to assess public attitudes, expectations and 
perceptions about the behaviour of those in 
public life against baseline data established in 
previous surveys in 2004, 2006 and 2008. The 
2010 survey also included a set of questions 
on the funding of political parties to assist the 
Committee in its current inquiry into party 
finance. 

The results of the survey make stark reading. 
Previous surveys have shown that public 
confidence in those holding public office has 
been on a long term decline since 2004. The 
2010 results suggest that the rate of decline 
may have increased. Worryingly, between 2008 
and 2010, the proportion thinking that most 
MPs are dedicated to doing a good job for the 
public fell by twenty percentage points (from 
46 to 26 per cent); the proportion thinking that 
most MPs are competent at their jobs fell by ten 
percentage points (from 36 to 26 per cent).

On a more positive note, there has been 
some increase in the public’s perception that 
professionals (other than MPs) ‘tell the truth’ 
and there is evidence to suggest that there is 
still a significant degree of public confidence in 
many British practices and institutions. 

The answers to the new questions about the 
funding of political parties show the extent to 
which the public are concerned about large 
donations, whether from activist groups, large 
companies, trade unions, or individual donors. 
It would be a mistake for anyone to think this 
issue had gone away. People generally assume 
that substantial donations are made for self-
interested reasons and a third of respondents 
believe that politicians ‘very often’ do special 
favours for people and organisations who give 
large donations.

A great deal of change has taken place across 
the UK’s ethical landscape over the last 16 years, 
placing greater emphasis on transparency and 
accountability. There are further pointers in this 
report about changes in behaviour that might 
start to address negative public perceptions 
and increase confidence in the political system. 
Ultimately, it is the duty of every public servant 
to ensure that their behaviour is of the highest 
standard and that they consider how their own 
and their organisations’ behaviour matches 
up to the expectations placed upon them by 
the public. What is clear is that the public has 
sophisticated and comprehensive views about 
the standards those in positions of public trust 
should be meeting, that it matters to them that 
those standards are met, and that they believe 
that on many fronts those standards are not 
consistently met.

I would like to thank the members of the 
Committee’s Research Advisory Board (Professor 
Cees van der Eijk, Dr Jean Martin, and the 
chairman, Dr Mark Philp), Dr Maria Grasso from 
the University of Sheffield, and Jonathan Rose 
from the University of Nottingham for their 
hard work in producing this report. I should 
also like to thank all those members of the 
public who gave their time, face-to-face in 
their own homes to discuss and complete the 
comprehensive questionnaire.

Christopher Kelly

FOREWORD
Sir Christopher Kelly 
Chairman of the Committee

Page 23



6

Survey of public attitudes towards conduct in public life 2010

This report presents the findings of a national 
survey of public attitudes towards the standards 
of conduct of public office holders in the United 
Kingdom (UK). The survey was commissioned by 
the Committee on Standards in Public Life as the 
fourth part of a long-term study to track public 
opinion about standards in public life. The 
survey was carried out in 2010/11 by TNS-BMRB 
Social Research. 

i. Background and objectives 

The Committee on Standards in Public Life 
was set up in October 1994 by the then Prime 
Minister, the Rt Hon Sir John Major. Its original 
terms of reference were:

‘To examine current concerns about 
standards of conduct of all holders of 
public office, including arrangements 
relating to financial and commercial 
activities, and make recommendations as 
to any changes in present arrangements 
which might be required to ensure the 
highest standards in public life.’

The terms of reference cover a range of 
categories of public office holder, encompassing 
elected and appointed public office holders at 
national and local level.

On 12 November 1997 the terms of reference 
were extended by the then Prime Minister, the 
Rt Hon Tony Blair: 

‘To review issues in relation to the 
funding of political parties, and to make 
recommendations as to any changes in 
present arrangements’.

In its First Report in 1995, the Committee drew 
up the Seven Principles of Public Life, as a 
statement of the values ‘inherent in the ethic 
of public service’. These Principles have been 
central to the Committee’s work and each of its 
subsequent reports, which have covered most of 
the major groups of public office holders. The 
Seven Principles, which are intended to apply 
to all public offices, are: Selflessness, Integrity, 
Objectivity, Accountability, Openness, Honesty 

and Leadership. The scope of each Principle, as 
it relates to the conduct of public office holders, 
is defined by a short explanatory statement. The 
Seven Principles have been widely adopted by 
public institutions, and are broadly in line with 
the most common ethical principles adopted in 
the 29 OECD countries.

In 2001, it was decided that the Committee 
should undertake research in order to explore 
whether the Principles reflected the general 
public’s priorities in relation to the conduct 
of public office holders, and to gauge public 
opinion on how well public office holders 
measured up to the Principles. A benchmark 
survey was carried out in 2003/04 across Great 
Britain by BMRB, and a second survey in 2005/06 
across the UK was conducted by Ipsos MORI, and 
BMRB ran a third survey in 2007/08. This is the 
fourth survey in this series and is designed as a 
follow-up to the three previous surveys. 

The aims and objectives of the fourth survey 
remain unchanged from the previous three 
surveys, these being to track:

1  What the public sees as acceptable and 
unacceptable behaviour on the part of 
elected and appointed holders of public 
office.

2 How far the public believes that the 
behaviour of holders of public office is, for 
the most part, acceptable or unacceptable.

3 How far the public believes that holders of 
public office are effectively held responsible 
and accountable for their conduct.

In addition, a series of questions on issues 
surrounding political party funding were 
introduced in the 2010 survey in order to assist 
the Committee in its inquiry into the subject. 

ii. Methodology

The questionnaire used for the survey was 
largely based on the previous questionnaires 
to ensure that relevant comparisons could be 

INTRODUCTION

Page 24



7

Introduction

made. The detailed analysis of the findings 
of previous reports demonstrated that there 
were a number of elements of the stand-alone 
questionnaire that produced little or no 
variation in the two year cycles of the surveys. 
As a result, it was agreed that it would be 
possible to run a smaller set of questions as a 
‘tracking’ survey to follow up on the key items, 
with the prospect of returning to a fuller range 
of questions (or a sub-set of that fuller range 
of questions) at a later stage. The significantly 
shorter set of questions made a stand-alone 
survey inappropriately costly and it was agreed 
to use the TNS CAPI OmniBus survey run by 
TNS-BMRB as a vehicle for the questions. 

One consequence of choosing the omnibus 
survey was that the opportunity for over-
sampling in the areas of the devolved 
administrations (as undertaken in 2006 for 
Northern Ireland and Scotland, and in 2008 for 
all three devolved administrations) was 
removed. This means that there is no systematic 
comparative discussion of data from these areas, 
although where the data is adequate and 
demonstrates significant variations this is noted 
in the report. The use of a set of core ‘tracking’ 
questions, and the use of an omnibus survey to 
carry the questions, substantially reduces the 
cost of the survey. However, both the previous 
surveys and the Omnibus Survey are designed to 
produce nationally representative samples which 
should ensure valid comparisons over time.

The survey was conducted face-to-face in 
respondents’ own homes using CAPI (Computer 
Assisted Personal Interviewing) between 29 
December 2010 and 4 January 2011. Interviews 
were carried out by fully trained interviewers 
from TNS-BMRB’s national face-to-face field 
force. 1,637 respondents were interviewed in 
England; 170 in Scotland and 93 in Wales.
 
Full technical details are provided in the 
Technical Appendix.

iii. Structure of the report 

Following this introduction and an executive 
summary, the report is divided into the 
following chapters:

1  Overall Perceptions of Standards in 
Public Life

2  Trust in Public Office Holders to Tell 
the Truth

3  Expectations and Perceptions of 
Westminster MPs

4  MPs and Voting in Parliament

5  Public Office Holders and Accountability

6  Political Party Funding

7  An Overview

iv. Reporting conventions

The commentary in the following chapters 
is supported by summary tables and figures. 
Chapters 1-5 cover questions that have been 
asked in all three of the previous surveys. 
Chapter 6 covers questions that were included 
only in the 2010 survey. The findings reported 
in these chapters are based on the sample 
of adults in Great Britain (GB) except where 
noted otherwise. The GB base is used so 
that the findings of the 2010 survey can be 
compared with those from both the 2006 and 
2008 surveys (which included booster samples 
for the devolved administrations) and the 
2004 survey which was conducted in GB only. 
Readers should note that some questions in 
these chapters ask respondents for their views 
about issues concerning standards in public life 
with respect to the UK as a whole. This gives 
rise to a number of tables or figures in which 
judgements about the UK are being reported on 
the basis of the GB sample. 

Differences reported in the commentary 
between subgroups within the sample are 
statistically significant at the 95 per cent 
confidence level. This means that we can be 
95% certain that the difference between the 
results for the subgroups being compared is 
a true difference, rather than one that has 
occurred by chance. 

Page 25



8

Survey of public attitudes towards conduct in public life 2010

This summary provides an overview of the 
key insights from the 2010 survey on public 
attitudes to standards in public life. The survey 
was conducted about eighteen months after 
the height of the MPs’ expenses scandal and 
nearly eight months after the General Election 
of 2010 and the creation of the current coalition 
Government. The survey took place before the 
height of the phone-hacking scandal in the early 
summer of 2011.  

The analysis conducted on the data, in relation 
to previous surveys, allows us to chart changes 
over time and to see which demographic 
factors and political orientation (such as age, 
social grade and party-affiliation) are related 
to particular attitudes. Although the analysis 
cannot definitively identify causes for changes 
in attitudes, it is reasonable to consider the 
changing patterns of response against the 
background of the political events prior to 
the survey and to hypothesise about possible 
connections. The bullet points below identify 
core findings, drawing attention to especially 
significant patterns of relationships between 
attitudes and demographic factors. The 
subsequent passages of commentary suggest 
possible explanations for changes between the 
surveys. A fuller discussion can be found in the 
report’s Overview.

1 Key Changes in Overall 
Perceptions of Standards  
in Public Life

• Previous surveys showed that most people 
in GB have a neutral or guardedly positive 
view of the overall standards of conduct of 
public office holders in the UK. In the 2010 
survey people rated standards of conduct 
less positively. In the previous three surveys 
at least four in ten people rated standards 
as high but by 2010 only about three in ten 
people rate them as such. In comparison 
to the last (2008) survey, the number of 
people rating standards as high dropped 
by almost 10 per cent and the proportion 
rating standards as low rose by about 4 per 
cent. Similarly, the proportion thinking that 

standards had deteriorated increased, and 
the proportion of individuals who thought 
that standards had improved fell. 

• When respondents were asked how they 
thought standards today compared to those 
of a few years ago almost half said they 
thought that standards of conduct amongst 
public office holders had deteriorated; only 
about two in ten respondents thought they 
had improved. 

• Overall, supporters of the three main parties, 
people in higher occupational categories, 
and ethnic minority respondents have more 
positive views. Men and young people 
are also more positive about changes in 
standards relative to, respectively, women 
and older people.

The evidence collected shows a long-term 
decline in public confidence in those holding 
public office between 2004 and 2010. On many 
issues, the 2010 results show a steeper decline 
than in the previous period. It might have been 
anticipated that there would be a growth in 
positive attitudes following the General Election 
and the change in government. In fact, the 
results suggests that there was no ‘bounce’ in 
public confidence following the election, or that 
any such bounce had collapsed by the time of 
the survey, or that there was a bounce, but that 
does not appear as a positive change but serves 
to mask an even steeper decline in confidence 
than is reported here.

It is not possible to identify with certainty  
the cause of people’s declining confidence,  
but it is possible that the expenses scandal has 
had an impact on people’s views and appear 
to have fed into and exacerbated the long-run 
trend of increasingly negative evaluations of 
politicians.

2 Trust in Public Office Holders to 
Tell the Truth

• As in previous surveys it is clear that some 
professional groups continue to command 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Page 26



9

Executive Summary

public confidence. Front line professionals 
are rated highly in terms of telling the 
truth; those working in the media are less 
trusted, although there is considerable 
variation between types of media and types 
of newspaper. Politicians, especially those 
with whom the public has less direct contact, 
are rated poorly. In this survey, against the 
background of the expenses scandal, levels of 
trust in local MPs fell, and confidence in the 
media increased across the board. Over the 
four surveys confidence in tabloid journalists 
and TV news journalists has increased by  
9 per cent. 

• As with the assessment of standards, 
statistical analysis shows that levels of trust 
in MPs in general and Government ministers 
tends to be higher among younger voters, 
those in higher occupational categories, and 
those from ethnic minorities. Supporters 
of the parties in government (Conservative 
and Liberal Democrat) were more trusting 
of politicians than supporters of Labour and 
Other parties.

In relation to questions about ‘trusting people 
to tell the truth’, the evidence is that confidence 
has declined in local MPs, but not in other 
professional groups, and there has been some 
increase in confidence in the media. This 
suggests both that people do have confidence in 
areas of public service manned by professionals, 
but that these views do not affect, and are 
not (as yet) affected by, their attitudes to 
politicians. At the same time, it may be that the 
rise in confidence in journalists is linked to their 
perceived role in exposing the expenses scandal. 
How robust that confidence will prove in the 
face of the details of the phone-hacking scandal 
remains to be seen.

3 Expectations and Perceptions of 
Westminster MPs

• People’s views as to how national politicians 
should behave and the priority that people 
attach to specific criteria of propriety have 
remained similar since the survey was first 
conducted in 2004, suggesting a broad and 
consistent consensus among members of the 
public on what general standards of conduct 
are appropriate in politics. The public 
places particular emphasis on basic honesty, 
financial prudence and selfless dedication 
to public service. However, there are also 
some fluctuations in people’s ranking of the 
importance of these standards compared to 
previous years: 

– the proportion of individuals ranking not 
taking bribes in the top three behaviours 
fell sharply in 2010 (from 42 to 25 per 
cent); 

– being in touch with what the public thinks 
is more likely to be rated as important; 

– not using power for personal gain, and 
being competent at their jobs on the other 
hand remained relatively consistently 
evaluated in comparison to previous 
surveys, with about 25-35 per cent of 
respondents ranking these amongst 
the three most important criteria of 
appropriate conduct. 

 
Overall, the proportion who state a preference 
for the criteria of propriety that rated most 
highly in 2004 has declined, whereas the 
proportion selecting those rated least highly has 
increased (in each case between 2008-2010). 

• As in previous surveys, the 2010 survey 
suggests a mismatch between how people 
think national politicians should behave and 
what they think actually happens in practice. 
MPs fall short of what people expect of 
them on all of the dimensions covered in the 
survey – with the exception of not taking 
bribes. The 2008 results suggested the public 
attached major importance to four key areas 
of conduct in which MPs are thought to be 
doing particularly badly. 

 
‘telling the truth’
‘making sure public money is used wisely’
‘being in touch with what the public 
thinks is important’
‘owning up to mistakes’

In 2010, three further areas enter this list:

‘being dedicated to doing a good job for 
the public’
‘not using power for their own gain’
‘being competent at job’

• Public satisfaction with the conduct of MPs 
has declined on every measure except taking 
bribes since the last survey was conducted. 
Most worryingly, between 2008 and 2010, 
the proportion thinking that most MPs are 
dedicated to doing a good job for the public 
fell by twenty percentage points (from 46 to 
only 26 per cent); the proportion thinking 
that most MPs are competent at their jobs 
fell by ten percentage points (from 36 to 
26 per cent); there was a 14 percentage 
point drop in the proportion thinking that 
most MPs are in touch with what the public 
thinks is important (from 29 to only 15 per 

Page 27



10

Survey of public attitudes towards conduct in public life 2010

cent); and there were also large drops in 
the proportion thinking that most MPs set 
a good example in their private lives (from 
36 to 22 per cent), make sure public money 
is used wisely (from 28 to 18 per cent), that 
they explain the reasons for their actions 
and decisions (from 25 to 17 per cent), and 
that they tell the truth (from 26 to 20 per 
cent). 

In 2010 there was no change in levels of trust 
in ministers and MPs in general, although some 
decline in trust in local MPs. However, these 
more detailed and probing questions about 
standards of propriety that the public expect 
MPs to demonstrate do show considerable 
changes in people’s confidence that MPs will 
conform to these standards. 

One possible explanation is that the impact 
of the MPs’ expenses scandal has been 
considerable, and has exacerbated a trend that 
earlier surveys identified. Confidence in relation 
to MPs’ conduct has fallen on practically every 
measure. The results also suggest that concerns 
with bribery or associated risks of outside 
influence on political decisions have been 
overshadowed by concerns with self-serving 
behaviour on the part of MPs. The increase 
in the number of areas of concern is most 
likely a further reflection of decreased public 
confidence in MPs generally. 

4 MPs and Voting in Parliament

• When respondents were asked in 2010 about 
the kinds of reasons that ought to influence 
MPs when voting in Parliament, they were 
slightly less likely to select selfless motives 
and slightly more likely to accept self-
interested motivations relative to previous 
surveys. In general, however, acting in the 
public interest remains important. Voting 
in accordance with what the MP’s party 
election manifesto promised, and therefore 
honouring a pledge to the electorate, is also 
widely seen as acceptable. Most people do 
not want MPs to prioritise their own interests 
when voting on national issues. 

• As in previous surveys, many people seem to 
reject party loyalties and political leadership 
as legitimate influences on the decisions 
that individual MPs take, although these 
motivations have become more acceptable. 
The wishes of local party members are 
seen as a more legitimate influence than 
the interest of the party at national level. 
There is little consensus on which single 

factor MPs would be most likely to take into 
account when voting. The most common 
view, given by a quarter of respondents, is 
that most MPs would base their decision 
on what would benefit the country as a 
whole, which is also the factor most likely 
to be viewed as a reasonable basis for the 
decision. 

 
People’s views on which factors most influence 
MPs’ decisions appear to have changed to some 
extent over time. More people believe that MPs 
base their decisions on what the party’s election 
manifesto promises, and on what would benefit 
people living in the MP’s local constituency. 
On the other hand, fewer people believe that 
MPs base their decision on what will make their 
party more popular or what might affect their 
political career. 

These results suggest an increased complexity 
in terms of expectations of politicians – with a 
greater acceptance shown towards the influence 
of parties at both the national and local level 
than in previous surveys. It is possible that 
the experience of coalition government may 
have had an impact on people’s views of the 
legitimacy of manifesto promises and party 
influence.

5 Public Office Holders 
and Accountability

• Respondents are evenly split over whether 
the authorities are committed to upholding 
standards in public life. Most respondents 
are confident that the media will generally 
uncover wrongdoing by people in public 
office; fewer have confidence that the 
authorities would do this, and still fewer had 
confidence that public office holders will be 
punished for misconduct. Nonetheless, the 
levels of confidence in the authorities to 
uncover and punish wrongdoing are slightly 
higher than in the 2008 survey. 

• In broad terms, confidence in the authorities’ 
and the media’s ability to improve standards 
and uncover wrongdoing is higher among 
young people, supporters of mainstream 
parties, and people from the higher 
occupational grades. People from ethnic 
minority backgrounds were more likely than 
White-British respondents to feel confident 
in the authorities’ ability and commitment 
to improving standards and uncover 
wrongdoing but had less confidence than 
White-British respondents in the media’s 
ability to uncover wrongdoing. 

Page 28



11

Executive Summary

Given declining levels of trust and confidence 
in MPs’ conduct, the relatively stable, and in 
some respects improved, evaluation of the role 
of the authorities in uncovering offences and 
punishing offences suggests that while people’s 
evaluation of MPs is affected by the expenses 
scandal, they retain their confidence in the 
more general institutions which police public 
standards was not affected. This, together with 
a good deal of evidence collected in the surveys 
over time (such as levels of trust in professionals; 
the consistency with which certain values are 
supported; and the reasonably high levels of 
confidence in wrong-doing being uncovered) 
suggests that the increasingly negative 
evaluations of politicians remains framed by 
a less fluctuating confidence in many British 
institutions and practices. 

6 Party Funding 

• The 2010 survey included a number of 
questions on the funding of political parties 
to assist the Committee in its inquiry into 
party finance. Most respondents believe 
that this is an important issue and that it 
is ‘never acceptable’ for politicians to do 
special favours in return for contributions. 
Respondents are most concerned about large 
donations, whether from activist groups, 
large companies, trade unions, or individual 
donors. Moreover, people largely assume 
that substantial donations are made for 
self-interested reasons. About a third of 
respondents believe that politicians ‘very 
often’ do special favours for people and 
organisations who give large donations; 
about two in ten respondents think that MPs 
‘very often’ decide what to do based on what 
their political contributors want. About half 
of respondents believe that MPs’ decisions 
are conditioned by donations, with very few 
thinking this was never the case. 

The picture in relation to party funding is 
reasonably clear. A clear majority of people  
see large donations (over £100,000) as a  
source of major concern, with at most a fifth 
of the population thinking that they are not a 
concern. Moreover, most people believe that 
donations come with expectations of influence 
or benefit to the donor, and the vast majority 
of people believe that, in one way or another, 
donors do get special favours or do influence 
MPs’ decisions. 

Page 29



12

Survey of public attitudes towards conduct in public life 2010

1.1  Summary 

The previous three surveys in this series have 
shown that most people in Great Britain have 
a neutral or guardedly positive view of the 
overall standards of conduct of public office 
holders in the UK. People rated standards 
of conduct less positively in 2010 than in 
previous years. In 2004-2008 at least four in 
ten people rated standards as high but by 2010 
only about three in ten people rated them as 
such. Correspondingly, the proportion rating 
standards as low more than doubled between 
2004 and 2010. In addition, 5 per cent of 
respondents rated standards as ‘very low’ in 
2010 compared to only 1 per cent in 2004. 

When respondents were asked how they 
thought standards today compared to those of 
a few years ago almost half said they thought 
that standards of conduct amongst public office 
holders had deteriorated; only about two in 
ten respondents thought they had improved. 
Overall, supporters of the three main parties, 
people in higher occupational categories, and 
ethnic minority respondents had more positive 
views. Men and young people were also more 
positive about changes in standards relative to, 
respectively, women and older people.

1.2  Overall standards of conduct of 
public office holders

This first chapter analyses citizens’ perceptions 
of the standards of conduct of public office 
holders in the UK. It also explores how these 
compare with perceptions in previous years 
(2004, 2006 and 2008) and how citizens 
themselves think that standards have changed 
over time. The results from the 2010 survey 
showed that 33 per cent of respondents rated 
standards of conduct as ‘quite high’ or ‘very 
high’. More people (43%) rated them as ‘neither 
high nor low’. About two in ten people (23%) 
rated standards as quite low or very low. 

Figure 1.2.1 shows that people rated standards 
of conduct less positively in 2010 than in 
previous years. In 2004-2008 at least four in 
ten (44%) people rated standards as ‘very 
high’ or ‘quite high’ but by 2010 only about 
three in ten (33%) people rated them as 
such. Correspondingly, the proportion rating 
standards as ‘very’ or ‘quite low’ more than 
doubled between 2004 and 2010. In addition, 
5 per cent of respondents rated standards as 
‘very low’ in 2010 compared to only 1 per cent 
in 2004. In comparison to the 2008 survey, 

1  OVERALL PERCEPTIONS OF 
STANDARDS IN PUBLIC LIFE

Very high

Quite high

Neither high nor low

Quite low

Very low

Don’t know
2004

2006

2008

2010 3

3

2

3 43 42 10 1

43 40 10 2

38 38 16 3

30 43 18 5

Figure 1.2.1 Overall rating of standards of conduct 2004-2010

Notes: GB respondents totals 2004 N=1097, 2006 N=1446, 2008 N=1898, 2010 N=1900
2004 question only asked about GB

Page 30



13

Overall Perceptions of Standards in Public Life 

the number of individuals rating standards 
as high dropped by almost 10 per cent and 
the proportion rating standards as low rose 
by about 4 per cent. Similarly, the proportion 
of individuals thinking that standards had 
deteriorated increased, and the proportion of 
individuals who thought that standards had 
improved fell.

1.3  How perceptions of overall 
standards vary within the  
Great Britain population

Logistic regression analysis has been used to 
explore which of a range of variables has a 
significant influence on whether people in 
Great Britain rate standards of conduct in public 
life as ‘very’ or ‘quite high’1. Party affiliation, 
occupational grade, and ethnic minority status 
have a significant effect on whether people 
think standards are high whereas gender, age, 
and country of residence do not. Table 1.3.1 
reports the proportion of individuals from 
various groups rating standards as ‘very’ or 
‘quite high’. The proportions of respondents in 
each group rating standards as ‘very’ or ‘quite 
high’, and the significant difference results 
from logistic regression analysis are summarised 
in Table 1.3.1. Proportions are reported for 

variables only where significant differences were 
found. 

Overall, supporters of all three main parties, 
people in higher occupational categories, and 
ethnic minority respondents are more likely to 
rate standards as high.2

• Party affiliation: Supporters of all three 
main parties (Conservatives, Labour, Liberal 
Democrats) are more likely than supporters 
of Other parties and people with no party 
affiliation to rate standards as high. Liberal 
Democrat supporters are also more likely 
than Labour supporters to rate standards as 
high.  

• Occupational Grade: Individuals in 
managerial and professional occupational 
groups (A/B) and supervisory and clerical 
occupations (C1) are more likely than 
individuals in skilled manual (C2) and 
unskilled manual occupations or the 
unemployed (D/E) to rate standards as high. 

• Ethnicity: Individuals from an ethnic minority 
background are more likely than people 
from a White British background to rate 
standards as high. 

Table 1.3.1  How perceptions of overall standards vary within the Great Britain population:
proportions reporting standards as ‘very’ or ‘quite high’

Party
affiliation

Conservative Labour Liberal
Democrat

Other Parties No party

41% * 35% * 46% * 25% 25% (ref. cat.)

Occupational 
grade

A/B managerial 
& professional

C1 supervisory 
and clerical

C2 skilled 
manual

D/E unskilled 
manual and 
unemployed

42% * 37% * 27% 26% (ref. cat.)  

Ethnicity Minority White-British

38% * 32% (ref. cat.)

Notes: Each cell reports the proportion of respondents in each group rating standards as ‘very high’ or ‘quite high’. 
Significance stars (*) are based on results of logistic regression. For each variable, * means the difference between this group 
and reference category group (ref. cat.) is significant at the 95% confidence interval.

1 See Technical Appendix for full details of the variables included in the models. 
2 Logistic regression only allows to test for differences between the reference category and each of the other variable categories, so, for 

example, between individuals with No party affiliation and supporters of, in turn, Conservative, Labour, Liberal Democrat and Other parties. 
Where the text refers to (significant) differences between two categories included in the models (e.g. Labour and Liberal Democrat supporters), 
significance tests were conducted post-regression, by means of the Wald test, which tests for significant differences  between the two 
regression coefficients (ß). In practice, this is equivalent to substituting the reference category. 

Page 31



14

Survey of public attitudes towards conduct in public life 2010

1.4  How standards compare with a 
few years ago

When respondents are asked how they think 
standards today compare to those of a few 
years ago 40 per cent of adults say they think 
that standards of conduct amongst public office 
holders have deteriorated; only 18 per cent 
think they have improved. A sizeable proportion 
think they have ‘stayed the same’ (39%). 

Figure 1.4.1 shows that the proportion of 
individuals thinking that standards have 
deteriorated increased between 2004/2006 
and 2008/2010 from about 30 per cent to 
about 40 per cent. Between 2008 and 2010, 
the proportion of individuals who think that 
standards have improved fell by 7 percentage 
points from 25 per cent to 18 per cent. 

1.5  How perceptions of changes in 
standards vary within the Great 
Britain population

Logistic regression analysis has been used to 
explore which of a range of variables has a 
significant influence on whether people in GB 
think that standards have improved. All the 
variables included in the model (gender, age, 
party affiliation, occupational grade, minority 
status and country, the relevance of each 
being suggested by previous research) have a 
significant effect on whether people think that 
standards have improved. The proportions of 
respondents in each group saying standards 
improved ‘a lot’ or ‘a little’ and the significant 
difference results from logistic regression 
analysis are summarised in Table 1.5.1. 

Again, supporters of the three main parties, 
people in higher occupational categories, and 
ethnic minority respondents have more positive 
views. Men and young people are also more 
positive about changes in standards relative to, 
respectively, women and older people.

• Gender: Men are more likely than women to 
think that standards have improved. 

• Age: In general, young people are more 
optimistic than older people in thinking that 
standards have improved. More specifically, 
people in the 18-24 and 25-34 age groups 
are more likely than those over 45 to think 
standards have improved; people in the 18-24 
age group are also more likely than people 
in both the 25-34 and 35-44 age groups to 
think standards have improved. 

• Party affiliation: In general, supporters of 
parties in government are more optimistic 
than supporters of Other parties. More 
specifically, supporters of all three main 
parties (Conservatives, Labour, Liberal 
Democrats) are more likely than those with 
no party affiliation to say that standards 
have improved. Conservative and Liberal 
Democrat supporters are also more likely 
than Labour supporters and supporters 
of Other parties to say standards have 
improved (but differences between Liberal 
Democrat and Conservative supporters are 
not significant).

• Occupational Grade: Individuals in 
managerial and professional occupations 
(A/B) are more likely than individuals in 
supervisory and clerical (C1) and unskilled 
manual occupation or the unemployed 
occupations (D/E) to think standards have 
improved. 

• Ethnicity: Individuals from an ethnic minority 
background are more likely than those 
from a White British background to think 
standards have improved. 

Page 32



15

Overall Perceptions of Standards in Public Life 

Table 1.5.1  How perceptions of standards vary within the Great Britain population:
proportions reporting standards as improving ‘a lot’ or ‘a little’  

Gender Male Female

20% * 15% (ref. cat.)

Age 18-24 25-34 35-44 45+

28% * 20% * 16% 15% (ref. cat.)  

Party 
affiliation

Conservative Labour Liberal
Democrat

Other Parties No party

22% * 19% * 30% * 12% 12% (ref. cat.)

Occupational 
grade

A/B managerial 
and 
professional

C1 supervisory 
and clerical

C2 skilled 
manual

D/E unskilled 
manual and 
unemployed

21% * 17% 19% 14% (ref. cat.)

Ethnicity Minority White-British

26% * 16% (ref. cat.)

Country Scotland Wales England

21% * 15% 17% (ref. cat.)

Notes: Each cell reports the proportion of respondents in each group saying standards ‘improved a lot’ or ‘improved a little’. 
Significance stars (*) are based on results of logistic regression. For each variable, * means the difference between this group 
and reference category group (ref. cat.) is significant at the 95% confidence interval. We only report proportions for groups 
where differences are statistically significant. 

Don’t know

Got a lot worse

Got a bit worse

Stayed the same

Improved a little

Improved a lot

2004

2006

2008

2010 3

5

3

3 25 38 25 6

22 39 23 7

20 29 29 13

15 39 31 9

Figure 1.4.1 How standards in the UK compare with a few years ago 2004-2010

Notes: GB respondents totals 2004 N=1097, 2006 N=1446, 2008 N=1898, 2010 N=1900
2004 question only asked about GB

Page 33



16

Survey of public attitudes towards conduct in public life 2010

2.1  Summary 

As in previous surveys, it is clear that some 
professional groups continue to command 
public confidence. Front line professionals are 
rated highly in terms of telling the truth; those 
working in the media are less trusted, although 
there is considerable variation between types 
of media and types of newspaper. Politicians, 
especially those with whom the public has 
less direct contact, are rated poorly. In this 
survey, against the background of the expenses 
scandal, levels of trust in local MPs fell, and 
confidence in media professionals increased 
across the board. Over the four surveys 
confidence has increased by 9 per cent in 
tabloid journalists and TV news journalists. 
Statistical analysis shows that levels of trust in 
MPs in general and in government ministers 
tends to be higher among younger voters, 
those in higher occupational categories, and 
those from ethnic minorities. Supporters of 
the parties in government (in this survey, 
Conservative and Liberal Democrat supporters) 
were more trusting of politicians than 
supporters of the opposition (Labour and  
other parties).  

2.2  The trust survey items 

In the first three surveys respondents were 
asked to say which of 17 professions they 
would trust to tell the truth and which they 
would not. This allowed the analysis to see the 
broader public’s levels of trust in public office 
holders against the background of their trust in 
other types of professionals. Respondents were 
asked to indicate whether they trusted or did 
not trust various types of professionals to tell 
the truth. Detailed analysis of the results from 
2004, 2006 and 2008, assessed the extent to 
which expressed trust for different professional 
groups was correlated. It established that for 
clusters of professions the responses reflected 
the same underlying orientation, and that the 
findings should not be affected by a reduction 
in the number of professions about whom 
he trust question was asked. Accordingly, the 
2010 survey included the dichotomous trust 

items ‘trust to tell the truth’/ ‘do not trust to 
tell the truth’ for only nine key professions: 
(1) Journalists on newspapers like The Times, 
Telegraph or Guardian; (2) Television news 
journalists; (3) Journalists on newspapers like the 
Sun, the Mirror3 or the Daily Star; (4) Judges; 
(5) Senior police officers; (6) Westminster MPs 
in general; (7) Your local Westminster MP; (8) 
Top civil servants; (9) Government ministers in 
Westminster. 

2.3  Over time change in trust 

Figure 2.3.1 shows the proportion of 
respondents who say that they would generally 
trust individuals in nine key professions to 
tell the truth. The results show that judges 
and senior police officers are the most trusted 
professions of the nine analysed. Comparing 
responses over time shows that trust in 
journalists and police officers has gone up 
and trust in MPs has gone down. Trust in 
judges remains relatively stable; trust in top 
civil servants has improved slightly. Local 
MPs (who in 2004 were more trusted – by 
nearly 10 percentage points – than top civil 
servants and broadsheet journalists) were, 
in 2010, marginally less trusted than both 
groups: only 40 per cent of respondents still 
said that they trusted their local MP. With the 
exception of tabloid journalists, Government 
ministers and MPs in general are the least 
trusted professionals. Low trust in Government 
ministers and MPs in general remained stable 
throughout the period under investigation. 
At the same time, trust in all three types of 
journalists rose between 2004 and 2010 (and 
between 2008 and 2010): respectively, (from 
2004) by 9, 3 and 9 per cent for TV news, 
broadsheet and tabloid journalists. 

These are perhaps unsurprising results in the 
aftermath of the expenses scandal. Journalists 
seem to have been praised for breaking the 
news and policemen for enforcing the law 
whereas local MPs paid a price. However, 
respondents were no more likely to distrust 
Government ministers and MPs in general. This 

2  TRUST IN PUBLIC OFFICE 
HOLDERS TO TELL THE TRUTH 

3 In Scotland, the Mirror was replaced with the Record

Page 34



17

Trust in Public Office Holders to Tell the Truth 

is perhaps owing to the fact that these groups 
were already not particularly well respected so 
that the expenses scandal did not overturn but 
rather confirmed people’s expectations.

2.4  How distrust in local MPs, 
MPs in general, and government 
ministers and perceptions 
of deteriorating standards 
vary within the Great Britain 
population

Logistic regression analysis has been used to 
explore which of a range of variables has a 

significant influence on whether people in 
Great Britain trusted their local MP, MPs in 
general, and Government ministers and whether 
standards had gotten worse, to check if trust 
in MPs is related to perceptions of changing 
standards. Age, party affiliation, occupational 
grade, and minority status had a significant 
effect on at least one of either the standards 
variables or the three trust variables. The 
proportions of respondents in each group 
selecting a given answer (see first column of 
Table 2.4.1 for details) and the significant 
difference results from logistic regression 
analysis are summarised in Table 2.4.1 (overleaf). 
Proportions are reported for variables only 
where significant differences were found.

2004

2006

2008

2010

Tabloid
journalists

MPs in
general

Government
ministers

Your local
MP

Broadsheet
journalists

Top civil
servants

TV news 
journalists 

Senior police
officers

Judges

80

73
67

69
68

83
81

80

58
47

51
49

41
40

37
37

41
36

39
38

40
48

45
47

26
27

23
24

26
27

29
27

16
10

9
7

Figure 2.3.1  Trust in professions to tell the truth 2004-2010

Notes: GB respondents totals 2004  N=1097, 2006 N=1446, 2008 N=1898, 2010 N=1900

Page 35



18

Survey of public attitudes towards conduct in public life 2010

Table 2.4.1  How levels of distrust in local MPs, MPs in general, and government ministers, and 
perceptions of deteriorating standards vary within the Great Britain population: 
proportions selecting ‘do not trust to tell the truth’ and selecting options indicating  
that standards have ‘got a bit worse’ or ‘got a lot worse’

Age 18-24 25-34 35-44 45+

Do not trust 
local MP

54% 56% 60% 59% (ref. cat.)

Do not trust 
MPs in general

67% * 67% * 73% 78% (ref. cat.)

Do not trust 
govt ministers

64% * 65% * 72% 78% (ref. cat.)

Standards are 
worse

32% * 30% * 42% 45% (ref. cat.)

Party 
affiliation

Conservative Labour Liberal
Democrat

Other Parties No party

Do not trust 
local MP

47% * 57% * 44% * 66% 66% (ref. cat.)

Do not trust 
MPs in general

66% * 73% 68% * 84% * 77% (ref. cat.)

Do not trust 
govt ministers

66% * 70% * 70% * 86% * 77% (ref. cat.)

Standards are 
worse

38% * 41% 31% * 47% * 42% (ref. cat.)

Occupational 
grade

A/B managerial 
and 
professional

C1 supervisory 
and clerical

C2 skilled 
manual

D/E unskilled 
manual and 
unemployed

Do not trust 
local MP

51% * 55% 64% 62% (ref. cat.)

Do not trust 
MPs in general

68% * 74% 78% * 74% (ref. cat.)

Do not trust 
govt ministers

70% 71% 78% * 73% (ref. cat.)

Standards are 
worse

37% * 40% * 40% * 45% (ref. cat.)

Ethnicity Minority White-British

Do not trust 
local MP

48% * 60% (ref. cat.)

Do not trust 
MPs in general

58% * 76% (ref. cat.)

Do not trust 
govt ministers

54% * 76% (ref. cat.)

Standards are 
worse

30% * 42% (ref. cat.)

Notes: Each cell reports the proportion of respondents in each group selecting the response ‘do not trust to tell the truth’ for 
(1) ‘local Westminster MP’, (2) ‘Westminster MPs in general’, and (3) ‘government ministers in Westminster’ and the proportion 
of respondents in each group selecting ‘got a bit worse’ or ‘got a lot worse’ when asked about changes in standards. 
Significance stars (*) are based on results of logistic regression. For each variable, * means the difference between this group 
and reference category group (ref. cat.) is significant at the 95% confidence interval.

Page 36



19

Trust in Public Office Holders to Tell the Truth 

Younger people, supporters of the three main 
parties (and more so of those in government), 
people in higher occupational categories and 
minority respondents are all more positive.

• Age: There is a clear age gradient to 
distrusting MPs and Government ministers 
and thinking that standards have worsened 
(except in the case of local MPs) with 
younger people generally having more 
positive views of politicians/ standards than 
older people, and particularly those over 
45.4 In more detail, there are no significant 
differences between age groups in terms of 
distrust for local MPs; however, 18-24 and 
25-34 year olds are significantly less likely 
than over-45s to distrust MPs in general 
or to distrust Government ministers; 18-24 
year olds are also less likely than 35-44 year 
olds to distrust government ministers; all 
three younger age groups are less likely to 
think standards have worsened than over 
45s; 18-24 and 25-34 year olds are also less 
likely than over 45s to think standards have 
worsened. Only in the case of local MPs are 
these differences not significant although, 
here too, they run in the same direction. 

• Party affiliation: Conservative, Liberal 
Democrat and Labour supporters are all 
significantly less likely than people who do 
not support a party to distrust their local 
MP. For Conservative and Liberal Democrat 
supporters this holds also for the extent 
to which they distrust MPs in general and 
Government ministers. Supporters of Other 
parties are more likely than supporters of 
all three colours to distrust MPs in general 
and Government ministers; they are 
more likely than Conservative and Liberal 
Democrat supporters to distrust their local 
MPs, but about as likely to distrust them 
as Labour supporters. This is very similar to 
the pattern for people thinking standards 
have become worse in recent years, by 
party. Liberal Democrat supporters are less 
likely than people with no party affiliation 
to think standards are worse; individuals 
supporting Other parties are more likely than 
Conservative and Liberal Democrat supporters 
to think that standards have worsened; they 
are no more likely than Labour supporters to 
think so. Therefore, trust in MPs and ministers 
is lowest amongst people supporting parties 

other than the main three, followed by 
people with no party affiliation, and thirdly 
by Labour supporters. Liberal Democrat and 
Conservative supporters are on the whole 
most trusting of MPs and ministers. The 
same pattern holds for those thinking that 
standards have worsened – Liberal Democrat 
and Conservative supporters are the least 
likely to think so whereas people supporting 
Other parties are the most likely to think 
that this was the case. Labour supporters 
and people with no party affiliations are 
somewhere in the middle. Therefore, 
distrust in MPs and government ministers 
and thinking that standards have worsened 
are most common amongst those without 
party affiliation, followed by supporters of 
other parties and Labour – i.e. those out of 
government.

• Occupational Grade: Individuals in A/B 
occupations are less likely than C2 and D/E 
to distrust their local MPs; they are also 
less likely than C1 and C2 to distrust MPs 
in general; individuals in skilled manual 
occupations are more likely than individuals 
in unskilled manual occupations or the 
unemployed to distrust MPs in general. 
Managers and professionals are less 
likely than individuals in skilled manual 
occupations to distrust government ministers; 
people in skilled manual jobs are more likely 
to distrust government ministers than the 
unemployed and those in unskilled manual 
occupations. Professionals and managers 
are less likely than the unskilled manual 
and unemployed to think standards have 
become worse. Overall, individuals in skilled 
manual occupations tend to distrust MPs 
and government ministers the most, closely 
followed by those in unskilled manual 
occupations and the unemployed. The latter 
group are the most likely to think standards 
have deteriorated. Taken together, this 
means that distrust in MPs and ministers and 
the feeling that standards have worsened 
are most common amongst the least skilled 
occupational groups in society.

• Ethnicity: Individuals from an ethnic minority 
background are less likely than respondents 
from a White-British background to distrust 
MPs and ministers and to think that 
standards have become worse. 

4 This recurrent finding raises the interesting question as to whether we are observing a life-cycle or a cohort effect. In the first (life-cycle) 
case, this would mean that young people tend to be more positive but that aging leads to more negative appraisals of MPs and government 
as individuals move through the life course. In the second (cohort effect) case, this would mean that a new generation of voters which 
views government in a better light than previous ones is coming of age and that their outlook will persist through the life-cycle, resulting in 
generational differences in attitudes to government between younger and older cohorts. This question can only be disentangled through the 
collection and analysis of quality longitudinal data following current young cohorts through the life-cycle.

Page 37



20

Survey of public attitudes towards conduct in public life 2010

3.1  Summary 

People’s views as to how national politicians 
should behave and the priority that people 
attach to specific criteria of propriety have 
remained similar since the survey was first 
conducted in 2004. The public places particular 
emphasis on basic honesty, financial prudence 
and selfless dedication to public service. 
However, the 2010 survey also saw some changes 
relative to previous years: the proportion of 
individuals who ranked ‘not taking bribes’ 
among the three most important criteria of 
propriety fell sharply in 2010 to only 25 per 
cent. ‘Being in touch with what the public thinks 
is important’, ‘not using power for personal 
gain’, and ‘being competent at their jobs’ on 
the other hand have remained relatively stable 
in the middle group with about 25-35 per 
cent of respondents ranking these amongst 
the three most important behaviours. Overall, 
the proportion who state a preference for the 
criteria of propriety that rated most highly in 
2004 has declined, whereas the proportion 
selecting those rated least highly has increased 
(in each case between 2008 and 2010). 

As in the previous surveys, the 2010 survey 
suggests a mismatch between how people think 
national politicians should behave and how they 
think they actually behave in practice. MPs fall 
short of what people expect of them on all of 
the dimensions covered in the survey – with the 
exception of ‘not taking bribes’. In 2008, the 
results from Gap Analysis suggested four key 
areas for improvement in the behaviours which 
the public think are important but also where 
they think that MPs are doing particularly badly.

• ‘telling the truth’

• ‘making sure public money is used wisely’

• ‘being in touch with what the public thinks  
is important’

• ‘owning up to mistakes’ 

In 2010, three further areas enter this list:

• ‘being dedicated to doing a good job for  
the public’

• ‘not using power for their own gain’

• ‘being competent at job’

Moreover, confidence about the actual conduct 
of MPs has declined on all measures except 
‘taking bribes’ in the period since the last survey 
was conducted. Most worryingly, the proportion 
thinking that most MPs are ‘dedicated to 
doing a good job for the public’ fell by twenty 
percentage points from 46 per cent in 2008 
to only 26 per cent in 2010. The proportion 
thinking that most MPs are competent at their 
jobs fell by ten percentage points from 36 per 
cent in 2008 to 26 per cent in 2010. Between 
2008 and 2010 there were large drops in the 
proportion thinking that most MPs are in touch 
with what the public thinks is important  
(14 per cent, from 29 to 15 per cent); and in the 
proportions thinking that most MPs ‘set a good 
example in their private lives’ (14 per cent, from 
36 to 22 per cent ), ‘make sure public money 
is used wisely’ (10 per cent, from 28 to 18 per 
cent), that ‘they explain the reasons for their 
actions and decisions’ (8 per cent, from 25 to 
17 per cent), and that they tell the truth (6 per 
cent, from 26 to 20 per cent). 

3.2 Standards of Conduct 

As with previous studies, this research sets 
out to establish what people perceive to be 
acceptable or unacceptable conduct on the part 
of elected and appointed public office holders 
and how far people believe that their actual 
behaviour is acceptable or not. The research 
follows its previous practice of tracking how 
far the Seven Principles of Public Life actually 
reflect the public’s own priorities. To accomplish 
this, respondents were first asked to say, in 
relation to ten criteria of propriety, which three 
they felt were the most important. They were 
then asked to say what proportion of public 
office holders they believe actually exhibit these 
behaviours. The available response options were 
‘All’, ‘Most’, ‘About half’, ‘A few’, ‘None’. The 
behaviours were drawn up with reference to 
the Seven Principles and the qualitative research 
findings from Stage 1 of the programme of 
research.5 The aim is to provide a basis for 
analysing the importance ascribed by people to 
certain behaviours against their perceptions of 

3  EXPECTATIONS AND PERCEPTIONS 
OF WESTMINSTER MPS  

Page 38



21

Expectations and Perceptions of Westminster MPs 

the extent to which public office holders  
meet these standards. In 2010 these questions 
were asked solely in relation to MPs. It is 
important to emphasise that the judgments 
recorded are relative, not absolute. In so far  
as ‘not taking bribes’ is less often ranked in  
the top three items this does not mean that 
people do not consider it to be an issue, only 
that there are other issues they consider  
more important at this time.

3.3  Over time change in the three 
most important criteria for 
conduct for public office holders 

Figure 3.3.16 shows which criteria for conduct 
respondents feel it is most important for public 
office holders to exhibit. Telling the truth 
and making sure that public money is spent 
wisely, as well as being dedicated to doing a 

5 GRAHAM, J., O’CONNOR, W., CURTICE, J. and PARK. A. (2002) ‘Guiding Principles: Public Attitudes towards Conduct in Public Life’, London: 
National Centre for Social Research 

6 The yearly totals in Figure 3.3.1 do not add up to 100 per cent due to leaving out the ‘don’t knows’. 

2004

2006

2008

2010

53
53

35
44

45
43

35
36
36

33
32

27
28

31
34

27
24

25
34

42
43

23
14

20
11

13
12

12
6
6

5

15
17

46

37
34

37

47
44

Setting a good example
in their private lives

Explaining reasons for
actions and decisions

Owning up when
they make mistakes

Not taking bribes

Being competent
at their jobs

Not using their power
for their own gain 

Being in touch with what
public thinks important

Being dedicated to doing
good job for the public 

Making sure public
money is used wisely

Telling the truth

25

Figure 3.3.1 Three most important criteria of conduct for MPs 2004-2010

Notes: GB respondents totals 2004 N=1097, 2006 N=1446, 
2008 N=1898, 2010 N=1900

Page 39



22

Survey of public attitudes towards conduct in public life 2010

good job for the public are consistently ranked 
as the most important criteria of conduct. In 
terms of change over time, the proportion of 
individuals ranking ‘not taking bribes’ in the 
top three criteria falls sharply in 2010 to only 
25 per cent: from 46 per cent in 2004, to 43 
per cent in 2006, to 42 in 2008. ‘Being in touch 
with what the public thinks is important’, ‘not 
using power for personal gain’, and ‘being 
competent at their jobs’ remain relatively stable 
in the middle group with about 25-35 per cent 
of respondents ranking these amongst the three 
most important behaviours. While respondents 
identify ‘owning up to mistakes’, ‘explaining 
reasons for actions and decisions’, and ‘setting a 
good example through private life’ least often 
as part of the three most important criteria, 
each is ranked more often amongst the three 
most important criteria by respondents in 2010 
relative to all previous surveys. Overall, the 
proportion selecting those criteria which rated 
most highly in 2004 declines, whereas  
the proportion selecting those and those rated 
least highly increases (in each case between 
2008 and 2010).

3.4  How preferences for most 
important criteria for conduct for 
MPs vary within the Great Britain 
population

Logistic regression analysis has been used to 
explore which of a range of variables has a 
significant influence on whether people include 
each of the ten qualities in their top three types 
of conduct that, according to their opinion, MPs 
should exhibit. The proportions of respondents 
in each group selecting a given answer (see 
first column of Table 3.4.1 for details) and 
the significant difference results from logistic 
regression analysis are summarised in Table 
3.4.1. Proportions are reported for variables only 
where significant differences were found.

Overall, the factors most associated with 
which of the criteria of conduct are identified 
as among the top three most important 
are occupational grade, followed by party 
affiliation, and age. Older people are more 
likely than younger people to select criteria 
relating to honesty, selflessness, and integrity 
(‘telling the truth’, ‘not taking bribes’) and 
private behaviour (‘setting a good example 
in their private lives’) in their top three. On 
the other hand, younger people are more 
likely to rate accountability and openness 
(‘explaining reasons for actions and decisions’) 
as key standards than older people. In terms 
of differences by party affiliation, Conservative 

supporters are more likely to prioritise integrity 
and selflessness (‘not taking bribes’) relative 
to Labour supporters and supporters of Other 
parties; Labour supporters are generally more 
likely to prioritise selflessness, accountability 
and openness (‘being dedicated to doing a 
good job for the public’ and ‘explaining reasons 
for actions and decisions’); Liberal Democrat 
supporters are in general more likely than 
supporters of Other parties to give priority to 
‘being in touch with what the public thinks 
is important’. In terms of differences by 
occupational grade, people in group D/E are 
more likely than people in higher occupational 
categories to prioritise honesty (‘telling the 
truth’) and integrity (‘not taking bribes’), and 
accountability and openness (‘owning up when 
they make mistakes’); they are less likely than 
people in higher occupational categories to 
prioritise fiscal prudence (‘making sure money 
is used wisely’), selflessness (‘being dedicated 
to doing a good job for the public’, ‘not using 
power for their own gain’), competence, and 
’being in touch with what the public thinks 
important’. 

• Age: People in the 25-34 and 35-44 age 
groups are (significantly) less likely than over 
45s to include ‘Tell the truth’ in their top 
three most important criteria for conduct 
for MPs; those over 45 are more likely than 
people in all three other younger age groups 
(respectively, 18-24, 25-34, 35-44) to include 
‘Not taking bribes’ in their top three; those 
over 45 are less likely than people in all three 
other younger age groups (respectively, 
18-24, 25-34, 35-44) to include ‘explain 
reasons for actions and decisions’ in their top 
three behaviours for MPs; People in the 25-34 
age group are less likely than those over 45 
to include ‘set good example in their private 
lives’ in their top three criteria for MPs. 

• Party affiliation: supporters of Labour and 
Other parties are more likely than people 
with no party affiliation to include ‘being 
dedicated to doing a good job for the 
public’ in their top criteria for conduct for 
MPs; Liberal Democrat supporters are more 
likely than Conservative, Labour and people 
with no party affiliation to include ‘being 
in touch with what public thinks important’ 
in their top three behaviours; Conservative 
supporters are less likely than supporters 
of Other parties to include ‘not using their 
power for their own gain’ in their top three 
criteria for MPs; Conservative supporters 
are more likely than Labour supporters and 
supporters of Other parties to include ‘not 
taking bribes’ in their top three; Labour and 

Page 40



23

Expectations and Perceptions of Westminster MPs 

Table 3.4.1  How preferences for most important criteria for MPs’ conduct vary within the Great 
Britain population: proportions selecting a given conduct as one of the three most 
important for MPs 

Age 18-24 25-34 35-44 45+

Tell the truth 40% * 40% * 40% * 47% (ref. cat.)

Not take bribes 18% * 22% * 21% * 28% (ref. cat.)

Explain reason 
for actions

32% * 24% * 23% * 16% (ref. cat.)

Set good e.g. 
in private lives

11% 9% * 11% 14% (ref. cat.)

Party 
affiliation

Conservative Labour Liberal
Democrat

Other Parties No party

Dedicated to 
do a good job

37% * 37% * 35%  38% * 29% (ref. cat.)

In touch with 
public thinking

33% 32% 46% * 38% * 30% (ref. cat.)

Not use power 
for own gain

28% 30% 28% 37% * 31% (ref. cat.)

Not take bribes 29% 23% 21% 20% * 26% (ref. cat.)

Explain reasons 
for action

19% 24% * 24% * 18% 17% (ref. cat.)

Occupational 
grade

A/B managerial 
and 
professional

C1 supervisory 
and clerical

C2 skilled 
manual

D/E unskilled 
manual and 
unemployed

Tell the truth 41% * 40% * 42% * 51% (ref. cat.)

Public money 
used wisely

36% 35% 39% * 31% (ref. cat.)

Dedicated to 
do good job

46%* 35% * 31% 29% (ref. cat.)

In touch with 
public thinking

35% * 34% * 39% * 28% (ref. cat.)

Not use power 
for own gain

33%* 36% * 27% 27% (ref. cat.)

Competent at 
their job

31% * 28% * 28% * 23% (ref. cat.)

Not take bribes 23% * 22% * 24% 29% (ref. cat.)

Own up when 
mistakes

18% * 22% 24% 25% (ref. cat.)

Ethnicity Minority White-British

Not take bribes 29% * 24% (ref. cat.)

Country Scotland Wales England

Tell the truth 51% * 51% * 43% (ref. cat.)

Notes: Proportions and logistic regression summary of results. Each cell reports the proportion of respondents in each group 
selecting a given type of conduct for MPs (see above) as among the top three most important. Significance stars (*) are based 
on results of logistic regression. For each variable, * means the difference between this group and reference category group 
(ref. cat.) is significant at the 95% confidence interval. Page 41



24

Survey of public attitudes towards conduct in public life 2010

Liberal Democrat supporters are more likely 
than people with no party affiliation to 
include ’explaining reasons for actions and 
decisions’ in their top three behaviours for 
MPs. 

• Occupational Grade: People in group D/E 
are more likely than people in A/B, C1, C2 
respectively to select ‘telling the truth’ in 
their top three criteria for MPs; People in 
C2 are more likely than people in D/E to 
include ‘making sure public money is used 
wisely’ in their top three criteria; people in 
A/B are more likely than people in all three 
other occupational groups to include ‘being 
dedicated to doing a good job for the public’ 
in their top three behaviours for MPs; People 
in C1 and C2 are more likely than people 
in D/E to include ‘being in touch with what 
public thinks important’ in their top three; 
People in A/B and C1 are more likely than 
people in C2 and D/E to include ‘not using 
their power for their own gain’ in their top 
three criteria for MPs; People in A/B, C1 
and C2 are more likely than people in D/E 
to include ‘being competent at their jobs’ 

in their top three criteria for MPs; People 
in C1 are less likely than people in D/E to 
include ‘not taking bribes’ in their top three; 
People in A/B are less likely than people in 
D/E to include ‘owning up when they make 
mistakes’ in their top three concerns. 

• Ethnicity: People from an ethnic minority 
background are more likely than people 
from a White-British background to include 
‘not taking bribes’ in their top three. 

• Country: People in Scotland and Wales 
are more likely than people in England to 
select ’telling the truth’ in their three most 
important criteria for MPs. 

3.5 Perceptions of conduct of MPs 

After ranking criteria of conduct in terms of 
importance, respondents were asked to say 
what proportion of MPs they believe actually 
acted in accordance with these characteristics. 
Figure 3.5.1 shows, for each of the ten criteria, 
the proportion of MPs that respondents think 
meet it. Overall, citizens view MPs in a relatively 

Don't know

A few/none

About half

All/most

Setting a good example
in their private lives

Explaining reasons for
actions and decisions

Owning up when they
make mistakes

Not taking bribes

Being competent
at their jobs

Not using their power
for their own gain

Being in touch with what
public thinks important

Being dedicated to doing
good job for the public

Making sure public
money is used wisely

Telling the truth 20

18

26

15

36

26

67

8

16

22 29 46

26 55

18 72

14 13

35 37

25 37

30 53

33 40

31 49

26 52

Figure 3.5.1 Perceptions of conduct of MPs 2010

Notes: GB respondents 2010 N=1900

Page 42



25

Expectations and Perceptions of Westminster MPs 

unflattering light. While only a minority of 
people think that MPs take bribes, as many as 27 
per cent of respondents think that half or more 
MPs take bribes. 52 per cent of respondents 
feel that only a few or less MPs tell the truth; 
72 per cent of respondents feel that at best 
only a few MPs own up to their mistakes; 53 
per cent of respondents feel that no more than 
a few MPs are in touch with what the public 
think is important. No less than 61 per cent of 
individuals feel that more than half of MPs use 
their power for their own gain. In short, fewer 
than half of the respondents feel that most MPs 
tell the truth, are in touch with what the public 
thinks is important, own up to mistakes, or 
explain the reasons for their actions. 

3.6  Over time in change in the 
perceptions of the conduct of 
MPs in England 

In this section we examine how the perceptions 
of the conduct of MPs changes over time 
amongst respondents in England. We focus on 
England alone for comparability purposes since 
the question on MPs was asked only in England 
in 2008. The two key patterns observed here are 
with respect to the various criteria for conduct, 
with the minor exception of ‘not taking bribes’, 
are that: (1) that there is a dramatic decline in 
perceived good conduct in 2010 compared to 
previous years; (2) this decline does not seem 
to originate between 2008 and 2010 but had 
already been set in motion earlier. 

Figure 3.6.1 (overleaf) plots the proportion of 
individuals thinking that ‘All’ or ‘most’ MPs 
exhibit a given characteristic across the four 
surveys (2004, 2006, 2008, and 2010). A majority 
of respondents think that ‘all’ or ‘most’ MPs do 
not take bribes. However, for all other positive 
behaviours less than 40 per cent of respondents 
believe that ‘all’ or ‘most’ MPs exhibit these 
favourable characteristics. Only about four in 
ten respondents think that most MPs do not 
use their power for their own gain; this means 
that about six in ten respondents believe 
that at least half of MPs do so. About three 
in ten respondents believe that most MPs are 
dedicated to doing a good job for the public 
and that they are competent at their jobs; this 
means that about seven in ten respondents 
believe that less than half of MPs act in this way 
in practice.

Only about two in ten respondents believe that 
most MPs ‘set a good example in their private 
lives’, ‘tell the truth’, ‘make sure public money 
is used wisely’, or ‘explain the reasons for their 

actions’ and ‘are in touch with what the public 
thinks is important’. This means that about 
eight in ten respondents believe that fewer 
than half of England’s MPs actually display these 
characteristics. Finally, only about one in ten 
respondents believe that most MPs owned up to 
their mistakes. 

In terms of change over time, fewer people 
in England feel that MPs exhibit each of the 
positive behaviours (with the exception of not 
taking bribes) in 2010 than in previous years. 
Most worryingly, the proportion thinking that 
most MPs are dedicated to doing a good job 
for the public has fallen by twenty percentage 
points from 46 per cent in 2008 to only 26 per 
cent in 2010. 

The proportion thinking that most MPs are 
competent at their jobs fell by ten percentage 
points from 36 per cent in 2008 to 26 per cent 
in 2010. There is also a large drop (14 per 
cent) in the proportion thinking that most MPs 
are in touch with what the public believes is 
important: from 29 per cent in 2008 to only 
15 per cent in 2010. Between 2008 and 2010, 
there are also large drops in the proportions 
thinking that most MPs set a good example 
in their private lives (14 per cent), make sure 
public money is used wisely (10 per cent), that 
they explain the reasons for their actions and 
decisions (8 per cent), and that they tell the 
truth (6 per cent). Overall, the results in this 
section show the perceptions of MPs behaviours 
clearly deteriorated in England between 
previous surveys and the one conducted 2010.

Page 43



26

Survey of public attitudes towards conduct in public life 2010

2004

2006

2008

2010

Owning up when
they make mistakes

Being in touch with what
public thinks important

Explaining reasons for
actions and decisions

Making sure public
money is used wisely

Telling the truth

Setting a good example
in their private lives

Being competent
at their jobs

Being dedicated to doing
good job for the public

Not using their power
for their own gain

Not taking bribes

67
62
62

80

37
41

48

26

26

22

20
26

31

31
30

17
25

15

28
31

8
10
10
11

29

25
30

18
28

27

36
38

42

36
40
40

46
45

49

50

Figure 3.6.1 Perceptions of conduct of MPs (All/most) 2004-2010 (England only)

Notes: England respondents totals 2004 N=935, 
2006 N=899, 2008 N=913, 2010 N=1637

Page 44



27

Section name

7 The relative position on this axis is plotted from ‘% Including the type of conduct in top three’: i.e., the proportion of respondents including 
each type of conduct in their top three.

8 The relative position on this axis is plotted from ‘% Net rating’: the proportion saying that few or no politicians exhibited the conduct 
subtracted from the percentage saying that all or most politicians did so. Please note that axes cross at (0, 22).

3.7 Gap Analysis 
The previous sections have examined which 
types of conduct people think are the most 
important for MPs to exhibit and what 
proportion of MPs they believe actually 
conform to these standards of conduct. By 
looking at the relationship between these two 
measures, it is possible to identify where the 
largest gaps exist between how people would 
like MPs to act and how they think MPs act in 
practice. Figure 3.7.1 reports the results of such 
a ‘Gap Analysis’. In each case, the perceived 
importance of each type of conduct (the 
vertical axis7) is plotted against the perceived 
performance (the horizontal axis8). The figure 
is then divided into four quadrants:

• types of conduct plotted in the top  
left quadrant are those which people 
perceive as particularly important, but  
on which they rate performance as  
relatively poor; 

• types of conduct plotted in the top right 
quadrant are those which people perceive 
as particularly important and on which they 
rate performance as relatively good;

• types of conduct plotted in the bottom right 
quadrant are those which people perceive 
as relatively unimportant and on which they 
rate performance as relatively good;

• and types of conduct plotted in the bottom 
left quadrant are those which people 
perceive as relatively unimportant and on 
which they rate performance as relatively 
poor

The types of conduct plotted in the top left 
quadrant (where these are seen as important, 
but where MPs are rated poorly) represent the 
greatest cause for concern, and are key priorities 
for improvement, since they are areas of where 
the gap between expectations and delivery is at 
its largest. Thus, in Figure 3.7.1:

• ‘Telling the truth’ appears in the top left 
quadrant, because this type of conduct is 
included in the top three by the highest 
proportion of respondents (44 per cent) , 
but only a small proportion feel that all or 
most government ministers do tell the truth 
(resulting in a net rating of -32 per cent). It is 
therefore a high priority for improvement.

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

55 65453525155-5-15-25-35-45-55-65

Setting a good 
example in their 
private lives

Explaining reasons for
actions and decisions

Not taking bribes

Net Rating

Importance

Owning up when they
make mistakes

Being competent
at job

Not using power
for personal gain

Being in touch with
what the public
thinks important

Making sure public
money is used wisely

Being dedicated 
to doing a good 
job for public

Telling the truth

Figure 3.7.1 Gap analysis

(% including behaviour in top 
three most important)

Page 45



28

Survey of public attitudes towards conduct in public life 2010

• ‘Not taking bribes’ appears in the top right 
quadrant: like ‘telling the truth’ it is widely 
seen as important. However, it has a very 
good net rating so is less of a priority for 
improvement than ‘telling the truth’.

• ‘Setting a good example for others in their 
private lives’ appears in the bottom left 
quadrant: the public sees it as relatively 
unimportant – only 12 per cent included this 
behaviour in their top three for MPs. It is 
therefore a low priority for improvement.

In 2008, the results from Gap Analysis suggested 
four key areas for improvement that the public 
think are important but where they also think 
that MPs are doing particularly badly. 

• ‘telling the truth’

• ‘making sure public money is used wisely’

• ‘being in touch with what the public thinks is 
important’

• ‘owning up to mistakes’.

In 2010, three further areas enter this list:

• ‘being dedicated to doing a good job for the 
public’

• ‘not using power for their own gain’

• ‘being competent at job’.

Page 46



29

MPs and Voting in Parliament 

4.1  Summary 

When asked about the kinds of reasons 
that ought to influence MPs when voting, 
respondents in 2010 are slightly less likely to 
require selfless motives and are slightly more 
likely to accept more self-interested motives, 
relative to previous surveys. In general, however, 
making decisions on the basis of the public 
interest remains important. Voting in accordance 
with what the MP’s party election manifesto 
promised, and therefore honouring a pledge to 
the electorate, is also widely seen as acceptable. 
In contrast, most people do not want MPs to 
prioritise their own interests when voting on 
national issues. As in previous surveys, many 
people seem to reject party loyalties and the 
demands of the political leadership as legitimate 
influences on MPs’ decisions, although these have 
become more acceptable. The wishes of local 
party members are seen as a more legitimate 
influence than the interest of the party at 
national level. 

There is little consensus on which one of the 
factors MPs are most likely to take into account 
when voting. The most common view, given by 
a quarter of respondents, is that most MPs base 
their decision on what would benefit the country 
as a whole, which is also the factor most likely to 
be viewed as a reasonable basis for the decision. 
People’s views on which of the factors have 
most influence on MPs’ decisions appear to have 
changed to some extent over time. More people 
believe that MPs base their decisions on what 
the party’s election manifesto promised, and on 
what would benefit people living in the MP’s 
local constituency. Fewer people believe that 
MPs base their decision on what will make their 
party more popular, on what might affect their 
political career, and on what they personally 
think is right.

4.2 Views on what should influence 
MPs voting behaviour 

This section examines people’s views about 
what factors MPs should or should not take into 
account when voting in Parliament, and what 
factors people believe that MPs actually do take 

into account in practice. One of the aims of 
these questions, which were also asked in the 
2004, 2006 and 2008 surveys, is to explore the 
extent to which people recognise that MPs are 
part of a partisan political system, and therefore 
accept party loyalties and political leadership 
as legitimate influences on the decisions that 
individual MPs take. On the whole, in the past, 
respondents have shown little sympathy for the 
partisan character of decision making in the 
House of Commons.

Respondents are asked to think of the scenario 
of an MP voting on ‘an important national 
issue’ in Parliament, and are given a set of cards 
to sort so as to indicate which factors they think 
it is reasonable for MPs to take into account 
when deciding how to vote and which they 
should definitely not take into account. They 
are then asked to say which single factor they 
think most MPs in practice would base their 
decision on.

Figure 4.2.1 (overleaf) shows the proportion 
of respondents who feel that each factor was 
reasonable for an MP to take into account when 
voting and compares responses with previous 
surveys. As was the case in 2004, 2006 and 2008, 
the results indicate widespread endorsement 
of the Selflessness Principle though slightly 
less so than in previous surveys. Respondents 
are particularly likely to cite factors that relate 
directly to acting in the public interest as being 
reasonable for MPs to take into account, such as 
‘what would benefit people living in the country 
as a whole’ (90 per cent – 4 points down from 
2008) and ‘what would benefit people living in 
the MP’s local constituency’ (83 per cent).  
Voting in accordance with what the MP’s party 
election manifesto promised, and therefore 
honouring a pledge to the electorate, are also 
widely seen as acceptable (84 per cent – 3 points 
down from 2008). 

In contrast, most people do not want MPs to 
prioritise their own interests when voting on 
national issues though these motivations are 
more acceptable in 2010 relative to 2008. The 
majority think that it is reasonable for MPs to 
take into account their own personal beliefs 

4  MPS AND VOTING 
IN PARLIAMENT   

Page 47



30

Survey of public attitudes towards conduct in public life 2010

when deciding how to vote (68 per cent), but are 
firmly opposed to any sort of personal gain being 
taken into account. Perhaps unsurprisingly, only 
24 per cent of respondents say it is acceptable 
for MPs to base their decision on how it might 
affect their political career (though this is 5 
points up from 2008) and only 15 per cent think 
it reasonable for MPs to take into account how 
their decision might benefit their family (though 
this was 3 points up from 2008). 15 per cent also 
think it reasonable for MPs to take into account 
how it might affect their chances of getting a job 
outside of politics (5 points up from 2008). 

Six in ten respondents (59 per cent) think that 
it is reasonable for MPs to vote in accordance 
with the wishes of local party members. Four 
in ten (41 per cent) feel that it is acceptable 
for an MP to vote in accordance with how the 
party leadership thinks that they should vote 
(nine points up from 2008). Only 37 per cent 
think that voting according to what would 
make the MP’s party more popular is acceptable 
(four points up from 2008). The first five items 
all seem to display trendless fluctuation over 
time; the last five appear to increase slightly in 
acceptance over time. 

2004

2006

2008

2010

How the decision might
affect the MP’s chances of

getting a job outside of politics

What would benefit
the MP’s family

How the decision might affect
the MP’s political career

What the MP thinks will make
his or her party more popular

How the MP’s party leadership
thinks he or she should vote

What the MP’s local party
members would want

What the MP personally
believes to be right

What would benefit people living
in the MP’s local constituency

What the MP’s party’s
election manifesto promised

What would benefit people
living in the country as a whole

90

84
87

81
85

83
82

80

68

59

41

37

24
19

17
15

15

15
10
10

9

12
12

9

33
31
31

32
36

32

60
58
59

67
71

69

81

94
95

94

Figure 4.2.1 What factors are reasonable for MPs to take into account 2004-2010

Notes: GB respondents totals 2004 N=1097, 2006 N=1446, 
2008 N=1898, 2010 N=1900

Page 48



31

MPs and Voting in Parliament 

4.3  How views on what should 
influence MPs’ voting vary within 
the Great Britain population

Logistic regression analysis has been used to 
explore which of a range of variables has a 
significant influence on which factors people 
think it is reasonable for MPs to take into 
account when voting. Below, we report and 
discuss the proportions of respondents in each 
group selecting a given answer (see text below 
for details) only where significant differences 
were found. 

Older people tend to be more likely than 
younger people to think that conscience is a 
reasonable motivation for MPs when voting. 
Men are more likely than women to think that 
conscience, local constituency issues, potential 
benefits to the MP’s career and family are 
reasonable considerations to take into account. 
Conservative party supporters tend to think that 
local constituency needs, national needs, local 
party member wishes, party leadership, and 
conscience are reasonable influences relative to 
individuals with other party affiliations. People 
in D/E are less likely relative to individuals in 
higher occupational categories to consider 
what the party’s manifesto promised and local 
constituency needs as reasonable influences 
on MPs when voting in Parliament; they are 
also more likely to consider as reasonable 
considerations what the party leadership thinks, 
what will make the party more popular, how 
decisions might affect the MP’s political career, 
what would benefit the MPs family. 
The detailed results are: 

• Age: People in the 35-44 age group (35%) 
are less likely than people in all three other 
age groups (respectively, for 18-24, 25-34, 
45+, 47 per cent, 44 per cent, 42 per cent) 
to think that it is reasonable for MPs to take 
into account ‘How the MP’s party leadership 
think he/she should vote’; People in the 
45+ age group (73%) are more likely than 
people in all the other three age groups 
(respectively, for 18-24, 25-34, 35-44, 60 per 
cent, 62 per cent, 63 per cent) to think that 
it is reasonable for MPs to take into account 
what ‘What the MP personally believes to  
be right’.

• Gender: Men (86 per cent) are more likely 
than women (82 per cent) to think that it 
is reasonable for MPs to take into account 
‘What would benefit people in local 
constituency’ when voting; to think that it 
is reasonable for MPs to take into account 

‘What the MP personally believes to be right’ 
(respectively, 70 and 65 per cent); to think 
that it is reasonable for MPs to take into 
account ‘How the decision might affect the 
MP’s political career’ (respectively, 26 and 
22 per cent); to think that it is reasonable 
for MPs to take into account ‘What would 
benefit the MP’s family’ (respectively, 16 and 
13 per cent).

• Party affiliation: Liberal Democrat supporters 
(92 per cent) are (significantly) more likely 
than Labour supporters and people with no 
party affiliation to think that it is reasonable 
to take ‘What the MP’s party’s manifesto 
promised into account’ when voting in 
Parliament; Conservative supporters (88 per 
cent) and supporters of Other parties (89 per 
cent) are more likely relative to people with 
no party affiliation (79 per cent) to think 
that it is reasonable take into account ‘What 
would benefit people in local constituency’ 
when voting; Conservative (95%) and Liberal 
Democrat (97%) supporters are more likely 
than Labour supporters (90%) and people 
with no party affiliation (87%) to think it 
is reasonable for MPs to take into account 
‘What would benefit people in the entire 
country when voting’; Conservative (64%) 
and Liberal Democrat supporters (65%) 
are more likely than people with no party 
affiliation (56%) to think it is reasonable 
for MPs to take into account ‘What the 
MP’s local party members would want’; 
Conservative supporters (44%) are more 
likely than people with no party affiliations 
(39%) to think that it is reasonable for 
MPs to take into account ‘How the MP’s 
party leadership think he/she should vote’; 
Conservative supporters (74%) are more 
likely than people with no affiliation (64%) 
to think that it is reasonable for MPs to 
take into account ‘What the MP personally 
believes to be right’.

• Occupational Grade: People in group 
C1 (87%) are more likely than people in 
D/E (81%) to cite ‘What the MP’s party’s 
manifesto promised’ into account when 
voting; people in group D/E (77%) are less 
likely than people in all three other grades 
(respectively, A/B, C1, C2, 89%, 86%, 83%) 
to think that it is reasonable take into 
account ‘What would benefit people in local 
constituency’ when voting; people in group 
A/B (39%) and C1 (40%) are less likely than 
people in group D/E (45%) to think that it 
is reasonable for MPs to take into account 
‘How the MP’s party leadership think he/she 
should vote’; People in group D/E (45%) are 

Page 49



32

Survey of public attitudes towards conduct in public life 2010

more likely than people in all three other 
groups (respectively, A/B, C1, C2, 25%, 38%, 
37%) to think that it is reasonable for MPs 
to take into account ‘What the MP thinks 
will make his or her party more popular’. 
People in group A/B are less likely than 
people in all three other grades to think that 
it is reasonable for MPs to take into account 
‘What the MP thinks will make his or her 
party more popular’; People in group D/E 
(30%) are more likely than people in all three 
other groups (respectively, AB, C1, C2, 17%, 
24% , 22%) to think that it is reasonable for 
MPs to take into account ‘How the decision 
might affect the MP’s political career’; people 
in group A/B are less likely than those in C1 
to think that it is reasonable for MPs to take 
into account ‘How the decision might affect 
the MP’s political career’; people in group 
D/E (19%) are more likely than people in all 
three other groups (respectively, A/B, C1, C2, 
9%, 16%, 13%) to think that it is reasonable 
for MPs to take into account ‘What would 
benefit the MP’s family’; people in group A/B 
are less likely than people in C1 to think that 
it is reasonable for MPs to take into account 
‘What would benefit the MP’s family’; People 
in group A/B (6%) are less likely than people 
in all three other groups (respectively, C1, 
C2, D/E, 16%, 16%, 19%) to think that it 
is reasonable for MPs to take into account 
‘How the decision might affect the MP’s 
chances of getting a job outside politics’. 

• Ethnicity: People from an ethnic minority 
background (48%) are more likely to think 
that it is reasonable for MPs to take into 
account ‘What the MP thinks will make his 
or her party more popular’ than people from 
a White-British background (36%); People 
from an ethnic minority background (38%) 
are more likely to think that it is reasonable 
for MPs to take into account ‘How the 
decision might affect the MP’s political 
career’ than people from a White-British 
background (22%); People from an ethnic 
minority background (24%) are more likely 
to think that it is reasonable for MPs to take 
into account ‘What would benefit the MP’s 
family’ than people from a White-British 
background (13%); People from an ethnic 
minority background (27%) are more likely 
than people from a White-British background 
(13%) to think that it is reasonable for MPs 
to take into account ‘How the decision might 
affect the MP’s chances of getting a job 
outside politics’.

• Country: People in Wales (75%) are 
(significantly) less likely than people in 

England (84%) and Scotland (86%) to 
think that it is reasonable to take into 
account ‘What would benefit people in 
local constituency’ when voting; People in 
Wales (29%) are less likely those in England 
(42%) and Scotland (43%) to think that it 
is reasonable for MPs to take into account 
‘How the MP’s party leadership think he/she 
should vote’; People in Scotland (77%) are 
more likely than people in England (67%) 
to think that it is reasonable for MPs to 
take into account ‘What the MP personally 
believes to be right’; People in Wales (13%) 
are less likely than people in England (25%) 
to think that it is reasonable for MPs to take 
into account ‘How the decision might affect 
the MP’s political career’.

4.4  Perceptions of influences on 
MPs’ voting behaviour 

Moving on to look at what people think actually 
affects MPs’ voting behaviour, Figure 4.3.1 
(overleaf) (which also compares responses with 
past surveys) shows that the most common view, 
given by a quarter of respondents (25%), is that 
most MPs would base their decision on what 
would benefit the country as a whole, which 
is also the factor most likely to be viewed as a 
reasonable basis for the decision. Just over a 
quarter of respondents think that MPs would 
take a decision along national party lines, either 
according to what the party promised in the 
election manifesto (15%) or in line with the 
wishes of the party leadership (13%). Hence, 
while only around a third of people accept 
national party loyalties and political leadership 
as legitimate influences on the decisions that 
individual MPs take, fewer still believe that 
these are the primary drivers of MPs’ voting 
behaviour. As the previous surveys found, there 
is little evidence to suggest that people believe 
that MPs vote in Parliament on the basis of self-
interest. Although 8 per cent of respondents 
think that most MPs would vote on the basis 
of how the decision might affect their political 
career, this was 5 points down from 2008 (13%). 
Only 1-2 per cent feel that most would vote on 
the basis either of how their career prospects 
outside politics, or their family, would be 
affected.

People’s views on which of the factors have 
most influence on MPs’ decisions appear to  
have changed to some extent over time. More 
people believe that MPs based their decisions 
on what the party’s election manifesto promised 
(15 per cent – 5 points up from 2008), and on 
what would benefit people living in the MP’s 
local constituency (11 per cent – 3 points up 

Page 50



33

MPs and Voting in Parliament 

2004

2006

2008

2010

How the decision might
affect the MP’s chances of

getting a job outside of politics

What would benefit
the MP’s family

What the MP’s local party
members would want

How the decision might affect
the MP’s political career

What the MP thinks will make
his or her party more popular

What the MP personally
believes to be right

What would benefit people living
in the MP’s local constituency

How the MP’s party leadership
thinks he or she should vote

What the MP’s party’s
election manifesto promised

What would benefit people
living in the country as a whole

25

15

13

11
8

9

9

9

8
13

14
11

4
3

4

2
1

1
1
1
1

2
1

6

13
16

17

11
11

12

7

12
14

21

10
9

10

25
17

10

Figure 4.3.1 Perception of main influence on MPs voting behaviour 2004-2010

Notes: GB respondents totals 2004 N=1097, 2006 N=1446, 
2008 N=1898, 2010 N=1900

Page 51



34

Survey of public attitudes towards conduct in public life 2010

from 2008). On the other hand, fewer people 
believe that MPs base their decision on what 
will make their party more popular (9% – 4 
points down from 2008), on what might affect 
their political career (8 per cent – 5 points down 
from 2008). 

4.5  How views on what actually 
influences MPs’ voting vary 
within the Great Britain 
population

Logistic regression analysis has been used to 
explore which of a range of variables had a 
significant influence on the factors people think 
are the main influences on MPs when voting. 
Below, we report and discuss the proportions 
of respondents in each group selecting a given 
answer (see text below for details) only where 
significant differences were found.

Younger people are in general less likely 
than older people to think that MPs voted 
according to how the party leadership thought 
they should vote; they are more likely than 
older people to think that the politician’s 
career was the main influence on voting. 
Men are more likely than women to think the 
party’s manifesto and leadership are the main 
influences on voting whereas women are more 
likely to think that MPs vote based on the 
national interest. Liberal Democrat supporters 
tend to think the party’s manifesto is the main 
influence; supporters of Other parties are more 
likely than people with different affiliations 
to think that politicians tend to be mainly 
influenced by their career prospects. People in 
group D/E are more likely than people in higher 
occupational categories to think that the main 
influences on voting by MPs are the national 
interest and what would make the party more 
popular; they are less likely to think that what 
the party manifesto promised, party leadership 
demands, and politician political career 
prospects are the main influences. 
 

• Age: People in the 35-44 age group (19%) 
are less likely than people in the 45+ age 
group (28%) to think that ‘What would 
benefit people in the entire country’ is the 
main influence on MPs’ voting behaviour; 
People in age groups 18-24 (6%) and 25-34 
(9%) are less likely than people in the 45+ 
age group (15%) to think that ‘How the MP’s 
party leadership think he/she should vote’ is 
the most important influence on MPs’ voting; 
People in the 35-44 age group (11%) are 
more likely than over 45s (7%) to think that 
‘What the MP thinks will make his or her 

party more popular’ is the main influence on 
MPs’ voting; People in the 18-24 (11%) and 
35-44 (11%) age groups are more likely than 
over 45s (7%) to think that ‘How the decision 
might affect the MP’s political career’ is the 
main influence on MPs’ voting. 

Gender: Men (17%) are more likely than women 
(13%) to think that ‘What the MP’s party’s 
manifesto promised’ is the most important 
influence on MPs’ voting; men (22%) are less 
likely than women (28%) to think that ‘What 
would benefit people in the entire country’ is 
the main influence on MPs’ voting behaviour; 
men (15%) are more likely than women (11%) 
to think that ‘How the MP’s party leadership 
think he/she should vote’ is the most important 
influence on MPs’ voting.

Party affiliation: Liberal Democrat supporters 
(19%) are more likely than supporters of the 
Conservatives (14%), Other parties (12%), and 
people with no party affiliation (14%) to think 
that ‘What the MP’s party’s manifesto promised’ 
is the most important influence on MPs’ 
Parliamentary voting; Conservative supporters 
(18%) are more likely than people with no party 
affiliation (10%) to think that ‘How the MP’s 
party leadership think he/she should vote’ is 
the most important influence on MPs’ voting; 
Supporters of Other parties (16%) are more 
likely than supporters of all three main parties 
(respectively, Conservatives, Labour and Liberal 
Democrats, 9%, 7%, 4%) and also people with 
no party affiliation (8%) to think that ‘How the 
decision might affect the MP’s political career’ is 
the main influence on MPs’ voting.

• Occupational Grade: People in C2 (13%) 
are less likely than people in D/E (18%) to 
think that ‘What the MP’s party’s manifesto 
promised’ is the most important influence 
on MPs’ voting; People in AB (21%) are less 
likely than people in C2 (28%) and D/E (29%) 
to think that ‘What would benefit people 
in the entire country’ is the main influence 
on MPs’ voting behaviour. Occupational 
grade is a particularly important influence 
on whether people believe that ‘How the 
MP’s party leadership think he/she should 
vote’ is the most important influence on 
MPs’ voting: people in group A/B (25%) are 
more likely than people in all three other 
groups (C1, C2 and D/E, respectively, 12%, 
11%, 6%) to think that this is the most 
important influence on MPs’ voting; people 
in group D/E are less likely than people in all 
three other groups to think this is the most 
important influence on voting; People in 
group A/B (5%) are less likely than those in 

Page 52



35

MPs and Voting in Parliament 

C1 (11%) to think that ‘What the MP thinks 
will make his or her party more popular’ is 
the main influence on MPs’ voting; People 
in C2 (10%) are more likely than people in 
D/E (6%) %) to think that ‘How the decision 
might affect the MP’s political career’ is the 
main influence on MPs’ voting.

• Ethnicity: People from an ethnic minority 
background (21%) are more likely than 
people from White-British background 
(14%) to think that ‘What the MP’s party’s 
manifesto promised’ is the most important 
influence on MPs’ voting; people from an 
ethnic minority background (30%) are more 
likely than people from a White British 
background (24%) to think that ‘What would 
benefit people in the entire country’ is the 
main influence on MPs’ voting behaviour; 
people from an ethnic minority background 
(4%) are less likely than people from a White 
British background (14%) to think that ‘How 
the MP’s party leadership think he/she should 
vote’ is the most important influence on 
MPs’ voting; people from an ethnic minority 
background (4%) are less likely than people 
from a White British background (9%) to 
think that ‘How the decision might affect the 
MP’s political career’ is the main influence on 
MPs’ voting. 

• Country: People in Wales (8%) are less likely 
than people in England (15%) and Scotland 
(19%) to think that ‘What the MP’s party’s 
manifesto promised’ is the most important 
influence on MPs’ voting; people in Wales 
(16%) are also more likely than people 
in England (8%) to think that ‘What the 
MP thinks will make his or her party more 
popular’ is the main influence on MPs’ 
voting; people in Scotland (6%) are less likely 
than people in England (8%) to think that 
‘How the decision might affect the MP’s 
political career’ is the main influence on  
MPs’ voting.

 

Page 53



36

Survey of public attitudes towards conduct in public life 2010

5.1 Summary 

Respondents are evenly split over whether 
they are confident that the authorities are 
committed to upholding standards in public 
life. Overall, there is a decline in confidence 
in the authorities in this respect: while most 
respondents are confident that the media will 
uncover wrongdoing by people in public office, 
fewer have confidence that the authorities 
will do this. Not only do only a minority of 
respondents have confidence in the authorities 
to uncover wrongdoing but even fewer people 
are confident that public office holders will be 
punished for any wrongdoing. However, people 
have more confidence that the authorities 
will uncover and punish wrongdoing than in 
previous surveys. 

As in previous years, one aim of the study 
is to assess how far the public believes that 
public office holders are held accountable for 
their conduct; that is, to what extent people 
feel that public office holders will be exposed 
and punished for unacceptable behaviour. To 
address this respondents were asked:

• how confident they felt that the authorities 
in the UK were committed to improving 
standards in public life;

• how confident they felt that:
(a) the authorities, and 
(b) the media will generally uncover 

wrongdoing by people in public office;

• how confident they felt that the authorities 
will punish people in public office when they 
are caught doing wrong.

Figure 5.2.1 summarises the responses to the first 
question over the four surveys. Around half of 
respondents are confident that the authorities 
are committed to upholding standards in public 
life, although only 4 per cent are very confident. 
Fractionally more respondents (50%) were not 
confident that the authorities are committed to 
upholding standards, with 8 per cent saying that 
they are not at all confident. Overall, there has 
been a decline in confidence on this measure 
since 2006, with the proportion who were very 
or fairly confident dropping from around six 
in ten (58%) to less than half (49%) by 2010, 
although there was no significant difference 
between 2008 and 2010. 

 

5  PUBLIC OFFICE HOLDERS 
AND ACCOUNTABILITY   

Don’t know

Not at all confident

Not very confident 

Fairly confident 

Very confident 
2010

2008

*2004

2006

4 45 42 8

5

5

5 49 40 5

53 35 5

46 39 9

Figure 5.2.1 Confidence in authorities’ commitment to standards 2004-2010 

Notes: GB respondents totals 2004 N=1097, 2006 N=1446, 2008 N=1898, 2010 N=1900

Page 54



37

Public Office Holders and Accountability 

Figure 5.2.2 shows that, by 2010, 74 per cent 
of respondents are confident that the media 
would generally uncover wrongdoing by people 
in public office, compared with just 44 per 
cent having confidence in the authorities to do 
this. The confidence in the media to uncover 
wrongdoing, which was also found in the 
previous surveys, is unsurprising, since media 
activity in exposing the alleged misdemeanours 
of public figures is much more visible to the 
general public than official activity in the same 
area. Not only do a minority of respondents 
have confidence in the authorities to uncover 
wrongdoing but even fewer people (36%) are 
confident that public office holders will be 
punished for unacceptable behaviour. However, 
people are less confident that that media will 
uncover wrongdoing than previously so.

5.3  How views on accountability 
vary within the Great Britain 
population

Logistic regression analysis has been used to 
explore which of a range of variables has a 
significant influence on whether people are 
confident about: 

• the authorities’ commitment to improving 
standards in public life;

• the authorities’ ability to uncover 
wrongdoing by people in public office;

• the media’s ability to uncover wrongdoing by 
people in public office;

• the authorities’ commitment to punishing 
people in public office when they were 
caught doing wrong

Below, we report and discuss the proportions 
of respondents in each group selecting a given 
answer (see text below for details) only where 
significant differences were found. 

The results showed that people in the youngest 
age group are more likely than older people to 
feel confident in the authorities’ commitment 
to improving standards in public life. Supporters 
of mainstream parties are more confident in the 
authorities’ and the media’s ability to improve 
standards and to uncover wrongdoing than 
supporters of Other parties and people with 
no party affiliation. Individuals in occupational 
grades D/E are less likely than people in higher 
categories to feel confident in the authorities’ 
and the media’s ability to improve standards 
and uncover wrongdoing. People from ethnic 
minority backgrounds are more likely than 
White-British respondents to feel confident 
in the authorities’ ability and commitment to 
improving standards and uncover wrongdoing; 
they are less likely than White-British 
respondents to feel confident in the media’s 
ability to improve standards and uncover 
wrongdoing. 

• Age: People in the 18-24 age group (58%) 
are (significantly) more likely than over 45s 
(47%) to feel confident in the authorities’ 
commitment to improving standards in  
public life.

• Party affiliation: Conservative (59%), Labour 
(51%) and Liberal Democrat (65%) supporters 
are all more likely than people with no 
party affiliation (42%) to feel confident in 
the authorities’ commitment to improving 

2004*

2006

2008

2010

That when people in public office
are caught doing wrong,

the authorities will punish them

That the authorities will generally
uncover wrongdoing by

those in public office 

That the media will generally
uncover wrongdowing by

those in public office

80
74

81
80

44
39

36
33

40
42

44
41

Figure 5.2.2 Confidence that wrongdoing will be uncovered and punished 2004-2010 

Notes: GB respondents totals 2004 N=1097, 
2006 N=1446, 2008 N=1898, 2010 N=1900

Page 55



38

Survey of public attitudes towards conduct in public life 2010

standards in public life. People supporting 
Other parties (35%) are significantly less 
likely than people with no party affiliation 
and the supporters of all three main 
parties to feel confident in the authorities’ 
commitment to improving standards in 
public life; Conservative (50%) and Liberal 
Democrat (55%) supporters are more likely 
than people with no party affiliation (39%) 
to feel confident about the authorities’ 
ability to uncover wrongdoing by people in 
public office; Liberal Democrat supporters are 
also more likely to be confident about this 
than Labour supporters (46%). Supporters of 
all three main parties and even people with 
no party affiliation are more likely to have 
confidence in the authorities than supporters 
of Other parties (32%). Conservative (83%) 
and Labour (74%) supporters are more likely 
than people with no party affiliation (68%) 
to feel confident about the media’s ability 
to uncover wrongdoing by people in public 
office. Conservative supporters are also 
more likely than Labour and Other party 
(75%) supporters to feel confident about the 
media’s ability to uncover wrongdoing by 
people in public office. Supporters of Other 
parties (25%) are less likely than supporters 
of all three main parties (respectively, 
Conservatives, Labour, Liberal Democrats, 
40%, 38%, 38%) and also people with no 
party affiliation (35%) to feel confident 
about the authorities’ commitment to 
punishing people in public office when they 
were caught doing wrong.

• Occupational Grade: People in group 
A/B (55%) and C1 (54%) are more likely 
than people in group D/E (42%) to feel 
confident in the authorities’ commitment to 
improving standards in public life ; people 
in occupational category A/B (55%) are also 
more likely than people in C2 (46%) to feel 
confident about this; people in group D/E 
(67%) are less likely than people in all three 
other categories (respectively, A/B, C1, C2, 
79%, 75%, 78%) to feel confident about the 
media’s ability to uncover wrongdoing by 
people in public office; people in A/B (41%) 
are more likely than people in C2 (34%) 
and D/E (34%) to feel confident about the 
authorities’ commitment to punishing  
people in public office when they were 
caught doing wrong.

• Ethnicity: People from an ethnic minority 
background (57%) are more likely than 
people from a White-British (48%) 
background to feel confident in the 
authorities’ commitment to improving 

standards in public life; people from an 
ethnic minority background (58%) are 
more likely to feel confident about the 
authorities’ ability to uncover wrongdoing 
by people in public office than White-British 
respondents (41%); people from an ethnic 
minority background (64%) are less likely 
than people from a White-British background 
(76%) to feel confident about the media’s 
ability to uncover wrongdoing by people 
in public office; people from an ethnic 
minority background (54%) are more likely 
than White-British respondents (34%) to feel 
confident about the authorities’ commitment 
to punishing people in public office when 
they were caught doing wrong.

• Country: People in Scotland (51%) are more 
likely than people in England (49%) to feel 
confident in the authorities’ commitment to 
improving standards in public life; people in 
Scotland (31%) are less likely than people in 
England (45%) to feel confident about the 
authorities’ ability to uncover wrongdoing by 
those in public office. 

Page 56



39

Political Party Funding

6.1  Summary 

The 2010 survey also included questions on 
party funding. Most people think this is an 
important issue and that it is ‘never acceptable’ 
for politicians to do special favours for 
contributors. Respondents are most concerned 
about large donations by activist pressure 
groups; but most respondents think that all 
large donations, whether by large companies, 
trade unions, or individual donors are of major 
concern. Moreover, people tend to think that 
large donations are made for self-interested 
reasons. About a third of respondents think 
that politicians ‘very often’ do special favours 
for people and organisations who give large 
donations; about two in ten respondents think 
that MPs ‘very often’ decide what to do based 
on what their political contributors want. 
About half of respondents believe that MPs are 
influenced by donations, and very few feel that 
this is rarely the case. 

6.2 Party funding 

The 2010 survey also included questions on 
party funding. When asked how important an 
issue they thought party funding was for the 
UK, 52 per cent think it is ‘of some importance’ 
and 30 per cent think it is ‘of great importance’;  
only 16 per cent think it is ‘of no importance’. 

When asked about whether it is acceptable for 
politicians to do special favours for contributors, 
53 per cent think it is ‘never acceptable’ and 
30 per cent think that it is ‘rarely acceptable’. 
Only 2 per cent think this is ‘completely 
acceptable’ and 14 per cent think it is ‘usually 
acceptable’. Respondents were also asked to 
say how concerned they were about donations 
(large and small) by different types of donors. 
Figure 6.2.1 shows that respondents are most 
concerned about large donations by activist 
pressure groups (64% think this is a major 
concern). But most respondents think that all 

6  POLITICAL PARTY FUNDING   

Don’t know

No concern

Minor concern

Major concern

Individual donors
(less than £7,500)

Individual donors
(more than £100,000)

Trade unions
(more than £100,000)

Large companies
(more than £100,000)

Activist pressure groups
(more than £100,000)

64

60

56

54

13 31 54

25 20

24 18

23 17

20 14

Figure 6.2.1 Party funding concerns 2010 

Notes: GB respondents 2010 N=1900

Page 57



40

Survey of public attitudes towards conduct in public life 2010

Most

common
16 39 42

Least

common

58 18 21

They believe in what that 

party stands for  

They hope to have more access 

and in"uence over that party  

They hope to be given some 

favours or special treatment 

Don't know

Figure 6.2.2 Most and least common reasons for large donations 2010

Notes: GB respondents 2010 N=1900

MPs do special favours for
people and organisations who

give very large contributions

MPs decide what to do based
on what their political

contributors want

20

36 49 9 2

57 16 5

Very Often

Sometimes

Rarely

Never

Don’t know

Figure 6.2.3 How often do MPs decide based on contributions or do special favours 2010

Notes: GB respondents 2010 N=1900

large donations, whether by large companies 
(60%), trade unions (56%) or by individual 
donors (54%) are of major concern. In contrast 
only low levels of concern were expressed 
about small donations (less than £7,500) from 
individuals. For most people (54%), this type of 
donation elicited ‘no concern’. This underlies the 
fact that the most important distinction drawn 
by respondents when asked about party funding 
is in the relation to the amount of money given, 
rather than who is giving it. 

Moreover, when respondents were asked 
what they think is the most common reason 
for people or organisations to make very 
large donations (say in excess of £100,000) to 
a political party they tend to reply that large 
donations are made for self-interested reasons 
(Figure 6.2.2).

Finally, respondents were asked how often they 
thought that politicians did special favours for 
people and organisations who give very large 
contributions to their party and how often they 
thought that Members of Parliament decided 
what to do based on what their political 
contributors want, rather than on what they 
really believed. Again, Figure 6.2.3 shows that 
people have a relatively negative view of MPs: 
36 per cent think that MPs ‘very often’ do 
special favours for people and organisations 
who give large donations and 49 per cent 
believe that they are ‘sometimes’ influenced by 
donations. Only 2 per cent think that this never 
happens and 9 per cent think it happens rarely. 
In a similar vein, 20 per cent think that MPs 
‘very often’ decide what to do based on what 
their political contributors want and 57 per cent, 
believe that this happens at least ‘sometimes’. 
Only 5 per cent think that this never happens; 
and 16 per cent think it happens ‘rarely’. 

Page 58



41

Political Party Funding

6.3  How views on party funding 
vary within the Great Britain 
population

Logistic regression analysis has been used to 
explore which of a range of variables has a 
significant influence on people’s views on party 
funding. Below, we report and discuss the 
proportions of respondents in each group 
selecting a given answer (see text below for 
details) only where significant differences  
were found.

In terms of concern over donations to parties, 
people in unskilled manual occupations and the 
unemployed are more likely to see individual 
donations to parties (whether large or small) 
as highly problematic than individuals in other 
occupational categories; on the other hand, they 
are less likely than individuals in the higher two 
occupation categories to see large donations 
from activist pressure groups and companies 
as of major concern. Individuals in different 
occupational categories however do not diverge 
over their concern for large donations from 
trade unions. People in the youngest age group 
(18-24 years of age) are less likely than people 
in the older three age groups to see large 
donations, whether from activist pressure groups, 
companies or trade unions, as highly problematic. 
There are no age differences over concern for 
individual donations (whether large or small). 
Party affiliation differentiates individuals only 
in terms of concerns over large donations from 
trade unions and individuals and in the expected 
direction: Conservative party supporters are more 
likely to see trade union donations as a major 
concern than supporters of the Labour party; 
Labour party supporters and the supporters 
of Other parties are more likely to see large 
individual donations as problematic than both 
Conservative and Liberal Democrat supporters. 
There are also small differences by ethnic 
minority status and country of residence.  

• Major concerns over individuals donations 
of less than £7,500: People in occupational 
group D/E (18%) are more likely than people 
in the other three occupational categories 
(respectively, for A/B, C1, and C2, 7, 10 and 
13 per cent) to see this as highly problematic. 
Ethnic minority respondents (16%) are more 
likely to see this as a major concern than White 
British respondents (12%). People in Wales 
(24%) are more likely to see this as a matter of 
concern than people in England (11%). 

• Major concern for individual donations 
of more than £100,000: Individuals in 

occupational group D/E (57%) are more 
likely than individuals in group A/B (47%) to 
see this as highly problematic. Labour party 
(59%) and Other party (58%) supporters are 
more likely than Conservative (46%) and 
Liberal Democrat (47%) supporters to see this 
as a major concern. 

• Major concern for activist pressure group 
donations of more than £ 100,000: Older 
people (for all three of the 25-34, 35-44, 
45+ age groups, respectively, 65, 65, and 67 
per cent) are more likely than people in the 
youngest age group (54 per cent for 18-24 
year olds) to see this as highly problematic. 
People in group A/B (70%) and C1 (68%) are 
more likely than people in group D/E (59%) 
to see this as a major concern. 

• Major concern for company donations of 
more than £100,000: Older people (for all 
three of the 25-34, 35-44, 45+ age groups, 
respectively 59, 61 and 63 per cent) are more 
likely than people in the youngest age group 
(40 per cent for 18-24 year olds) to see such 
donations as a major concern, and people 
in group A/B (65%) and C1 (60%) are more 
likely than people in group D/E (56%) to 
see this as a major concern. White British 
respondents (61%) are more likely than 
ethnic minority respondents (50%) to express 
concern, and people in Scotland (68%) are 
more likely than people in England (58%) to 
see this as a major concern. 

• Major concern for trade union donations of 
more than £100,000: Older people (for all 
three of the 25-34, 35-44, 45+ age groups, 
respectively 55, 55 and 59 per cent) are more 
likely than people in the youngest age group 
(42 per cent for 18-24 year olds) to see this 
as a major concern. It is more a concern 
for Conservative supporters (63%) than for 
supporters of the Labour party (52%).

There are also interesting differences in the 
GB population in terms of other attitudes 
to party funding. In general, supporters 
of all three main parties tend to be more 
optimistic that parties refrain from doing 
favours for individuals or groups making large 
donations and to believe that individuals and 
organisations make donations because of their 
beliefs rather than to gain special treatment. 
However, supporters of the three main parties 
are split over whether doing favours for  
donors is ever acceptable, with Labour 
supporters (along with supporters of Other 
parties and people with no party affiliation) 
being more likely than supporters of the 

Page 59



42

Survey of public attitudes towards conduct in public life 2010

other two main parties to say that this is 
‘never’ acceptable. Young people are both 
less prone to think that parties do special 
favours for donors and also more likely to 
think that individuals make donations based 
on belief than older people. Young people 
are also less likely than older people to think 
that doing special favours for donors was 
‘never acceptable’. Additionally, individuals in 
occupational group D/E have a more positive 
view in relation to both the occurrence of 
special favours and motives for donations  
than individuals in the middle two occupational 
categories (C1 and C2). In more detail: 

• Conservative (18%) and Labour supporters 
(21%) are more likely than individuals with 
no party affiliation to believe that most 
donors give money “because they believe 
in what that party stands for” rather than 
“because they hope to have more access and 
influence over that party” or “because they 
hope to be given some favours or special 
treatment”. Individuals in occupational group 
D/E (18%) are more likely than individuals in 
groups C1 (15%) and C2 (13%) to think that 
people make donations because they believe 
in what the party stands for.

• Men (40%) are more likely than women 
(32%) to think that parties ‘very often’ do 
special favours for individuals who make 
large donations; younger people (18-24 and 
25-34, respectively, 31 and 32 per cent) are 
less likely than older people (38 per cent for 
45+ year olds) to think that this happens 
‘very often’. Supporters of all three main 
parties (respectively, for Conservative, Labour 
and Liberal Democrat supporters, 34, 33, and 
30 per cent) are less likely than supporters 
of Other parties (46%) to think that this 
happens ‘very often’; individuals  
in occupational group D/E (32%) are less 
likely than individuals in groups C1 (38%) 
and C2 (39%) to think that this happened 
‘very often’.

• Supporters of Other parties (30%) are more 
likely than supporters of the three main 
parties (respectively, for Conservative, Labour 
and Liberal Democrat supporters, 15, 19, 
and 11 per cent) to think that parties base 
decisions on donations ‘very often’.

• Older people (56 per cent for 45+ year olds) 
are more likely than young people (for 18-24 
and 25-34, respectively, 43 and 45 per cent) 
to say that it is ‘never’ acceptable for MPs 
to do favours for donors; Labour (53%) and 
Other party (61%) supporters and individuals 

with no party affiliation (54%) are more 
likely than supporters of the Conservative 
(44%) and Liberal Democratic (45%) party to 
say this is ‘never’ acceptable.

Page 60



43

An Overview

7.1  Summary 

The previous chapters of this report have each 
looked at a separate set of questions asked in 
the survey. They reported how often various 
answers were given, how that compared with 
results from earlier surveys, and whether, if 
at all, specific groups in the British population 
displayed different views. This resulted in 
a great number of detailed findings. Yet, 
although this detail is important, it can make  
it difficult to see ‘the bigger picture’ that  
derives from the data. This final chapter  
reverses the perspective and tries to assess  
the common features of the more detailed  
findings reported earlier. 

This conclusion focuses on questions that 
contain a clear aspect of evaluation of 
standards, and that were asked not only in the 
2010 survey but also in the previous three. These 
questions do not all have the same ‘format’. 
Some specify only two options for answers, 
others more. Yet, they can be compared in a 
simple way by expressing the responses as a 
point lying somewhere between a ‘worst’ and 
a ‘best’ conceivable situation. In each case, 
the ‘worst’ would be where all respondents 
see standards are very poor, or believe that 
politicians cannot be trusted, or think that 
MPs are not competent. The ‘best’ would be if 
everyone believes that standards are excellent, 
that politicians can be trusted, that MPs are 
competent, and so on. The actual responses of 
the sample will lie somewhere in between these 
two extremes, sometimes more to the positive 
side, sometimes more to the negative side. By 
scoring the responses in this way, comparisons 
can be made between different questions, and 
between different years, and different groups in 
the British population. 

The questions included in the following  
analyses are:

• Trust (see Chapter 2 of this report), and in 
particular: trust in MPs in general, in one’s 
local MP, in Government ministers, and in 
top civil servants. Trust in judges and in 
tabloid journalists (the most and the least 

trusted groups respectively – see Chapter 2), 
are also included to provide some perspective 
on the ratings of politicians.

• Rating of standards of conduct of public 
office holders (see Chapter 1).

• How standards of conduct compare with a 
few years ago (see Chapter 1). 

• Confidence in authorities to uphold 
standards (see Chapter 5).

• Confidence in authorities uncovering 
wrongdoing by people in public office  
(see Chapter 5).

• Confidence in the media uncovering 
wrongdoing by people in public office  
(see Chapter 5).

• Confidence that wrongdoing by people 
in public office will be punished (see also 
Chapter 5).

• The extent to which MPs are seen as 
engaged in desirable behaviour (such as 
being committed to doing a good job for 
the public, or being competent at their job) 
or undesirable behaviour (such as using their 
power for their personal gain, or taking 
bribes). These questions were analysed in 
detail in the report (see Chapter 3).For the 
current analysis we combine the responses 
to these separate questions into a single 
index that expresses the proportion of listed 
behaviours that are perceived in a positive 
way by the respondents. 

For each of these variables, responses can be 
expressed as a specific point somewhere on a 
continuum between the most positive and the 
most negative perceptions possible. They can be 
then be represented (with all thirteen variables 
in a single graph), by arranging them as spokes 
of a wheel. In such a chart (sometimes referred 
to as a ‘spider web’ or ‘radar’ chart) it is easy 
to see the extent to which positive or negative 
perceptions are the same across all variables, or 
whether particular variables elicit much more 

7  AN OVERVIEW   

Page 61



44

Survey of public attitudes towards conduct in public life 2010

positive (or negative) responses than others. A 
chart of this type can also be used to compare 
the responses of different samples or different 
groups of respondents to these groups of 
questions. 

Figure 7.1 uses this analysis on the results of 
the 2010 survey and compares it to each of the 
previous surveys. The points on each of the 
axes of the web (one for each variable), that 
represent respondents’ evaluations of negativity 
or positivity have been connected. This makes 
it easier to see both which of the variables is 
perceived most positively, and what differences 
exist between the various surveys. The outer rim 
of the web is where everybody is positive on the 
scale; the centre is where everybody is negative. 
In between, points on each access combine 
levels of positivity or negativity and proportions 
expressing them. 

Figure 7.1 shows that, with the exception of 
judges, perceptions of standards of politicians 
and public officials are quite negative. For the 
variables displayed, and for 2010, only trust in 
judges is more positive than negative (i.e., the 
point of the trust in judges axis is much closer 
to the outer rim of the chart than towards the 
centre). The other variables rarely cross the 

mid-point between maximum negativity and 
maximum positivity. 

A second striking feature of Figure 7.1 is that for 
some variables there has not been much change 
over time in perceptions. The lines representing 
the four surveys are virtually on top of each 
other for all the variables displayed in the upper 
half of the chart. But for the variables in the 
bottom half of the chart the 2010 survey shows 
more pronounced negativity than the previous 
surveys. These variables relate to trust in MPs 
generally, trust in one’s local MP, perceptions 
of MPs’ actual behaviour, overall ratings of 
standards, perceptions of how this has changed 
over time, and the perception of the authorities’ 
commitment to improving standards. For all 
these variables, the green line (representing the 
2010 survey) is significantly closer to the centre 
of the chart (thus, more negative) than the lines 
of the earlier surveys. 

For a few variables this increasingly negative 
evaluation reflects changes that were already 
visible in earlier surveys (most marked in the 
cases of the overall rating of standards and the 
perception of how standards have changed). 
But for the variables relating to politicians, the 
2010 perceptions display a step-change towards 

Confidence in the authorities to
punish wrongdoing

Confidence in the media
uncovering wrongdoing

Confidence in the authorities
uncovering wrongdoing

Authorities committed
to standards

How standards compare
with a few years ago

Overall rating 
of standards

MPs actual behaviours

Trust local MP

Trust MPs 
in general

Trust government
ministers

Trust tabloid 
journalists

Trust top civil servants

Trust judges

2004200620082010

Figure 7.1 Comparing perceptions of standards across surveys

Page 62



45

An Overview

greater negativity. This is not a reflection of the 
British public being gloomier in general, since 
there is no increased negativity for the items in 
the top half of the chart. Increased negativity 
in 2010 is found only for judgments about 
politicians and for the general evaluation of 
standards. 

This increase in negative evaluations must 
be seen against the background of already 
very unflattering perceptions of politicians in 
previous years (being already much closer to 
the centre of the chart than to the outer rim). 
As mentioned earlier in this report, it cannot 
be stated with absolute certainty that these 
changes can be attributed to the expenses 
scandal, but that interpretation seems at least 
plausible in the absence of compelling rival 
interpretations. 

Previous chapters of this report have provided 
detailed analyses of the extent to which 
perceptions and beliefs vary within the GB 
population. In this chapter we address how far 
these differences have a general pattern, as 
against varying for different items. This can be 
addressed in the same way as the comparison 
between the different surveys, above. For these 
variables, however, we focus on the 2010 data 

only, and make comparisons between different 
groups within the GB population. 

Figure 7.2 illustrates the impact that differences 
between age groups have on people’s views. 
The differences in perceptions are not very large 
between age groups, although the magnitude 
of these differences varies somewhat across 
questions (e.g., the differences are much larger 
when looking at trust in Government ministers, 
than perceptions of MPs’ actual behaviours). 
However, this figure also shows that there is 
a systematic character in the impact of age 
differences. On every item the perceptions 
and beliefs of the two oldest age groups are 
more negative than those of the two youngest 
age groups. This is the case even where the 
differences do not reach statistical significance 
for separate items (as is the case, for example, 
for trust in judges). This finding underlines the 
relevance of the question raised in Chapter 2 of 
this report, as to whether such systematic and 
persistent differences reflect life-cycle or cohort 
effects. If life-cycle effects exist, young people 
who tend to be more positive now will become 
less so when they grow older. With cohort 
effects, the more positive views of the currently 
youngest generations of citizens will persist 
through their life-cycles. The relevance of this 

Age: over 45 Age: 25-34 

Age: 35-44 Age: 18-24

Confidence in the authorities to
punish wrongdoing

Confidence in the media
uncovering wrongdoing

Confidence in the authorities
uncovering wrongdoing

Authorities committed
to standards

How standards compare
with a few years ago

Overall rating 
of standards

MPs actual behaviours

Trust local MP

Trust MPs 
in general

Trust government
ministers

Trust tabloid 
journalists

Trust top civil servants

Trust judges

Figure 7.2 Comparing the impact of age on perceptions of standards

Page 63



46

Survey of public attitudes towards conduct in public life 2010

Non-whiteWhite

Confidence in the authorities to
punish wrongdoing

Confidence in the media
uncovering wrongdoing

Confidence in the authorities
uncovering wrongdoing

Authorities committed
to standards

How standards compare
with a few years ago

Overall rating 
of standards

MPs actual behaviours

Trust local MP

Trust MPs 
in general

Trust government
ministers

Trust tabloid 
journalists

Trust top civil servants

Trust judges

Figure 7.3 Comparing the impact of ethnicity on perceptions of standards 

question lies in what we can expect to happen 
in the coming decades: a greying population 
giving rise to increasingly strong feelings of 
negativity about politics (life-cycle effect), or 
the gradual replacement of generations with 
negative perceptions by other ones who have a 
somewhat more positive perception. Which of 
these two different processes is at play can be 
assessed only through the collection and analysis 
of quality longitudinal data, which follow 
cohorts through their life-cycles.

Some caution is needed when comparing 
groups on the basis of ethnic background 
since the small numbers interviewed in this 

survey preclude comparisons of different 
ethnic minority groups, whose attitudes may 
vary considerably from one another. However, 
comparing all those in an ethnic minority 
group with the majority White British group 
reveals very strong and systematic differences 
across virtually all items. Figure 7.3 shows 
that negativity in perceptions is much more 
pronounced amongst the White British 
population than amongst ethnic minority 
groups. Overall, the difference is one between 
slightly negative perceptions and beliefs 
amongst members of ethnic minorities, and 
much more extremely negative views amongst 
White British. This report is not the appropriate 

Page 64



47

An Overview

Other None

Liberal DemocratLabourConservative

Confidence in the authorities to
punish wrongdoing

Confidence in the media
uncovering wrongdoing

Confidence in the authorities
uncovering wrongdoing

Authorities committed
to standards

How standards compare
with a few years ago

Overall rating 
of standards

MPs actual behaviours

Trust local MP

Trust MPs 
in general

Trust government
ministers

Trust tabloid 
journalists

Trust top civil servants

Trust judges

Figure 7.4 Comparing the impact of party affiliation on perceptions of standards 

place to speculate about the origins and 
consequences of these differences, but they are 
large enough to warrant further investigation.

As the preceding chapters have shown, 
perceptions and views differ considerably 
between people of different political affiliations 
Figure 7.4 helps to assess these differences. Two 
things stand out. First, on virtually all variables 
analysed here, the perceptions and beliefs of 
people affiliated to parties other than the major 
three and people without any party affiliation 
whatsoever, are much more negative than are 
those of supporters of the three major parties. 
Second, although much more muted, there 

seems to be somewhat of an incumbency effect, 
with supporters of Conservatives and Liberal 
Democrats generally being most positive in their 
perceptions. The first of these two findings is 
linked to the most striking differences: people 
supporting Other parties are extremely negative 
in most of their perceptions, and they display 
especially low trust in Government ministers.
 

Page 65



48

Survey of public attitudes towards conduct in public life 2010

DEC2C1AB

Confidence in the authorities to
punish wrongdoing

Confidence in the media
uncovering wrongdoing

Confidence in the authorities
uncovering wrongdoing

Authorities committed
to standards

How standards compare
with a few years ago

Overall rating 
of standards

MPs actual behaviours

Trust local MP

Trust MPs 
in general

Trust government
ministers

Trust tabloid 
journalists

Trust top civil servants

Trust judges

Figure 7.5 Comparing the impact of occupational grade on perceptions of standards 

In earlier chapters we have commented on the 
impact of differences between occupational 
grades. Figure 7.5 shows that for most 
of the variables the differences between 
the perceptions of people from different 
occupational grades are not very large. 
Moreover, the ranking in terms of negativity 
across the four groups distinguished (A/B, C1, 
C2, and D/E) is not always the same for each 
measure. For example, the D/E group is most 
negative in its perceptions for many of the 
variables, but not for trust in Government 
ministers and trust in tabloid journalists. 

Finally, when comparing the differences 
between the different surveys from 2004 to 

2010 on the one hand, and the differences 
between different segments of the GB 
population in 2010, it must be emphasised 
that the differences with earlier surveys are, 
on the whole, not particularly large. There 
is more variation in perceptions within the 
population, for example in terms of ethnicity 
or party affiliation, than there is variation 
over the four surveys. This does not make the 
over time differences unimportant, but it does 
demonstrate that the slow secular decline in 
overall levels of confidence on standards issues 
slightly obscures some very varied reactions to 
standards questions from different sections of 
the community.

Page 66



49

Technical Appendix

Unless otherwise noted, the analyses in this 
report are based on the sample of respondents 
from Great Britain to make results comparable 
with previous surveys. The total numbers of 
respondents in each survey were: 2004 N=1097, 
2006 N=1446, 2008 N=1898, 2010 N=1900. The 
Survey was conducted between 29 December 
2010 and 4 January 2011.

All the logistic regression models control for all 
the following independent variables:

Gender: male, female (ref cat)
Age: 18-24, 25-34, 35-44, 45+ (ref cat)
Party affiliation: Conservative, Labour, Liberal 
Democrat, Other parties, No affiliation (ref 
cat)
Occupational grade: A/B managerial and 
professional, C1 supervisory and clerical, C2 
skilled manual, D/E unskilled manual and 
unemployed (ref cat)
Ethnic minority status: ethnic minority, White 
British (ref cat)
Country: Scotland, Wales, England (ref cat) 

We report and discuss the proportions of 
respondents in each group selecting a given 
answer only where significant differences were 
found. Logistic regression indicates significant 
differences between the reference category 
and each of the other variable categories, 
so, for example, between individuals with 
No party affiliation and supporters of, in 
turn, Conservative, Labour, Liberal Democrat 
and Other parties. Where the text refers to 
(significant) differences between two other 
categories included in the models (e.g. Labour 
and Liberal Democrat supporters), significance 
tests were conducted post-regression, by means 
of the Wald test, which tests for significant 
differences between these two regression 
coefficients (ß). In practice, this is equivalent to 
changing the reference category.

Unlike previous studies, the 2010 survey does 
not include measures of highest educational 
qualification, sector of employment, newspaper 
readership, exposure to media, whether the 
respondent was influenced by issues under the 

remit of the CSPL, and whether the respondent 
was influenced by wider events. As such, these 
are not included in the models.

The 2010 omnibus sample showed larger 
differences relative to the 2008 stand-alone 
survey than could be accounted for by sampling 
errors in terms of party affiliation patterns. 
If we compare the 2008 sample for England 
alone (N=913 ) with that for England for 2010 
(N=1637), (since the 2008 survey over-sampled in 
Wales, Scotland and NI), the proportions in the 
various party affiliation categories for England 
alone are as follows:

Party Affiliation
England

2008
England 

2010

% %

Conservative 30 21

Labour 28 30

Liberal Democrat 13 8

Other parties 11 8

No affiliation 18 33

Total 100 100

It is clear that overall a larger proportion 
of individuals reported having no party 
affiliation in 2010 compared with 2008. There 
was a corresponding decline the proportions 
identifying with the Conservatives and the 
Liberal Democrats. We cannot determine the 
reason for these differences, although they 
could reflect disenchantment with the Coalition 
government on the part of supporters of its 
constituent parties.

TECHNICAL APPENDIX   

Page 67



50

Survey of public attitudes towards conduct in public life 2010

Page 68



Page 69



The Committee on Standards in Public Life
35 Great Smith Street
London SW1P 3BQ

Tel: 020 7276 2595
Fax: 020 7276 2585

Internet: www.public-standards.gov.uk
Email: public@standards.x.gsi.gov.uk

September 2011

Page 70



D
:\

m
o

d
e

rn
g

o
v
\D

a
ta

\A
g

e
n

d
a

It
e

m
D

o
c
s
\8

\0
\2

\A
I0

0
0

0
4

2
0
8

\$
x
i4

h
o

2
ll.

d
o

c
 

S
ta

n
d

a
rd

s
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
 W

o
rk

 P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 2

0
1
2

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

�
 

E
n

c
o

u
ra

g
e
 M

e
m

b
e
rs

 a
n

d
 O

ff
ic

e
rs

 t
o

 p
u

t 
h

ig
h

 e
th

ic
a
l 
s
ta

n
d

a
rd

s
 a

t 
th

e
 h

e
a
rt

 o
f 

th
e
ir

 w
o

rk
; 

�
 

 
�
 

P
ro

m
o

te
 c

u
rr

e
n

t 
h

ig
h

 s
ta

n
d

a
rd

s
 o

f 
p

ro
fe

s
s
io

n
a
li

s
m

 a
n

d
 m

a
k
e
 h

ig
h

 e
th

ic
a
l 
s
ta

n
d

a
rd

s
 c

e
n

tr
a
l 

to
 t

h
e
 o

b
je

c
ti

v
e
s
, 

b
e
h

a
v
io

u
rs

 
a
n

d
 c

u
lt

u
re

 o
f 

th
e
 A

u
th

o
ri

ty
 a

n
d

 e
n

c
o

u
ra

g
e
 p

ro
a
c
ti

v
e
 l

e
a
d

e
rs

h
ip

 o
f 

th
e
s
e
 t

h
e
m

e
s
 b

y
 m

e
m

b
e
rs

 a
n

d
 o

ff
ic

e
rs

. 
�
 
T
o
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 u
s
in
g
 t
h
e
 ‘
ta
g
 l
in
e
’ 
d
e
c
id
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
d
d
e
d
 t
o
 a
ll 
s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
ts
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il.
  
A
 s
u
g
g
e
s
te
d
 ‘
ta
g
 l
in
e
’ 
is
 ‘
T
o
rb
a
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
re
c
o
g
n
is
e
s
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
c
e
 o
f 
h
ig
h
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 o
f 
c
o
n
d
u
c
t 
a
n
d
 e
th
ic
s
 f
ro
m
 i
ts
 

p
o
lit
ic
ia
n
s
 a
n
d
 o
ff
ic
e
rs
. 
 T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
s
tr
iv
e
s
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
it
s
 p
o
lit
ic
ia
n
s
 a
n
d
 o
ff
ic
e
rs
 m
a
in
ta
in
 t
h
e
s
e
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 w
h
e
n
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
f 
T
o
rb
a
y
’ 

�
 
C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 a
n
d
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 r
e
p
o
rt
in
g
 o
n
 m
e
m
b
e
r 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 e
s
p
e
c
ia
lly
 f
o
r 
fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
 f
o
r 
n
e
w
 C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
rs
 

�
 
T
h
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 c
o
m
in
g
 y
e
a
r 
w
ill
 b
e
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 t
o
 e
a
c
h
 o
f 
th
e
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
th
e
 

S
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 C
o
m
m
it
te
e
. 
 T
h
e
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
 a
re
 a
s
k
e
d
 t
o
 l
e
t 
L
is
a
 W
a
rr
ill
o
w
 k
n
o
w
 a
s
 s
o
o
n
 a
s
 p
o
s
s
ib
le
 e
it
h
e
r 
w
h
a
t 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 t
h
e
y
 a
re
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 f
o
r 
o
r 
w
h
a
t 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 t
h
e
y
 a
re
 d
e
fi
n
it
e
ly
 n
o
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
. 
 L
is
a
 w
ill
 t
h
e
n
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
 a
 l
is
t 
o
f 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 t
o
 b
e
 m
o
n
it
o
re
d
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
 w
h
o
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
s
k
e
d
 t
o
 a
tt
e
n
d
 t
h
o
s
e
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
. 
 N
o
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 

m
e
m
b
e
r 
w
ill
 b
e
 e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 t
o
 a
tt
e
n
d
 m
o
re
 t
h
a
n
 3
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 c
o
u
rs
e
 o
f 
th
e
 y
e
a
r.
  
T
h
e
 t
o
ta
l 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 t
o
 b
e
 

a
tt
e
n
d
e
d
 b
y
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
s
 f
o
llo
w
s
:-
 

o
 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 –
 3
 o
u
t 
o
f 
1
2
 

o
 
L
ic
e
n
s
in
g
 –
 1
 o
u
t 
o
f 
3
 ‘
fu
ll 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
’ 
a
n
d
 2
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 o
f 
it
s
 s
u
b
-c
o
m
m
it
te
e
s
 

o
 
O
v
e
rv
ie
w
 a
n
d
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 –
 3
 o
u
t 
o
f 
1
2
 

o
 
F
u
ll 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
–
 3
 o
u
t 
o
f 
7
 

o
 
B
ri
x
h
a
m
 T
o
w
n
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
 -
 2
 o
r 
3
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 c
o
u
rs
e
 o
f 
th
e
 y
e
a
r 

o
 
H
a
rb
o
u
r 
C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 –
 1
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 

If
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
p
ro
b
le
m
s
 a
re
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 o
r 
c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 a
re
 r
a
is
e
d
 b
y
 a
n
y
 p
e
rs
o
n
 a
t 
a
n
y
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
 m
a
y
 b
e
 a
s
k
e
d
 

to
 a
tt
e
n
d
 t
h
e
 i
m
m
e
d
ia
te
ly
 s
u
b
s
e
q
u
e
n
t 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 i
f 
c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
. 
 I
t 
is
 i
n
te
n
d
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
a
ll 
re
p
o
rt
s
 f
ro
m
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 

m
e
m
b
e
rs
 w
ill
 b
e
 r
e
le
a
s
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p
re
s
s
 w
h
e
th
e
r 
re
q
u
e
s
te
d
 o
r 
n
o
t.
  
T
h
e
 n
a
m
e
s
 o
f 
th
e
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
 w
h
o
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 t
h
e
 

re
p
o
rt
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 r
e
m
o
v
e
d
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
m
 b
e
fo
re
 t
h
e
y
 a
re
 r
e
le
a
s
e
d
. 

�
 
F
o
c
u
s
 o
n
 c
o
n
d
u
c
t 
o
f 
n
e
w
 c
o
u
n
c
ill
o
rs
 t
o
 a
s
s
is
t 
w
it
h
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

�
 

In
c
re

a
s
in

g
 T

ru
s
t 

in
 L

o
c
a
l 

D
e
m

o
c
ra

c
y
; 

�
 
A
n
th
o
n
y
 B
u
tl
e
r 
to
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 o
n
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 o
f 
n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 D
e
v
o
n
 w
id
e
 c
o
d
e
s
 o
f 
c
o
n
d
u
c
t 

�
 
E
n
s
u
re
 c
o
d
e
 o
f 
c
o
n
d
u
c
t 
tr
a
in
in
g
 i
s
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 
a
n
d
 a
tt
e
n
d
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 i
n
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
th
o
s
e
 c
h
a
ir
e
d
 b
y
 n
e
w
 c
o
u
n
c
ill
o
rs
 

Agenda Item 8

Page 71



D
:\

m
o

d
e

rn
g

o
v
\D

a
ta

\A
g

e
n

d
a

It
e

m
D

o
c
s
\8

\0
\2

\A
I0

0
0

0
4

2
0
8

\$
x
i4

h
o

2
ll.

d
o

c
 

�
 
A
n
th
o
n
y
 B
u
tl
e
r 
a
n
d
 C
h
a
ir
m
a
n
 o
f 
S
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 t
o
 w
o
rk
 w
it
h
 o
th
e
rs
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
o
d
e
 

�
 
S
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 –
 a
s
k
 p
o
lit
ic
a
l 
g
ro
u
p
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
s
 t
o
 h
ig
h
lig
h
t 
o
p
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 o
b
ta
in
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 f
ro
m
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
 

o
f 
th
e
ir
 g
ro
u
p
s
 o
n
 a
 v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 c
o
d
e
 

�
 
S
u
g
g
e
s
t 
to
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
y
 s
ig
n
 a
c
c
e
p
ta
n
c
e
 o
f 
a
n
y
 v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 c
o
d
e
 

�
 
C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
fu
tu
re
 s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 o
f 
S
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 w
it
h
 r
e
g
a
rd
s
 t
o
 o
v
e
rs
e
e
in
g
 c
o
n
d
u
c
t.
 

�
 
Id
e
n
ti
fy
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 m
o
n
it
o
r 
e
th
ic
a
l 
s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 p
o
s
t 
A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
2
 

�
 

E
n

c
o

u
ra

g
e
 t

h
e
 p

u
b

li
c
a
ti

o
n

 o
f 

in
te

rn
a
l 
a
n

d
 e

x
te

rn
a
l 
c
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a
ti

o
n

s
 w

h
ic

h
 p

ro
m

o
te

 t
h

e
 v

a
lu

e
 o

f 
h

ig
h

 e
th

ic
a
l 

s
ta

n
d

a
rd

s
, 
 

�
 
In
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
 r
e
p
o
rt
s
 o
n
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 r
e
le
a
s
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p
re
s
s
 a
n
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 e
le
c
te
d
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

�
 
F
u
rt
h
e
r 
a
rt
ic
le
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 f
o
r 
in
c
lu
s
io
n
 i
n
 ‘
T
h
e
 I
n
fo
’ 
p
ro
m
o
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 w
o
rk
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
s
 

�
 
P
re
s
s
 r
e
le
a
s
e
 o
n
 w
h
a
t 
w
e
’r
e
 d
o
in
g
 f
o
r 
th
e
 v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 c
o
d
e
 

�
 
K
e
e
p
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 i
n
fo
rm
e
d
 o
f 
a
n
y
 p
o
s
s
ib
le
 e
th
ic
a
l 
s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 a
n
d
 f
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 t
h
a
t 
w
ill
 b
e
 p
u
t 
in
 p
la
c
e
 p
o
s
t 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
2
 

 

Page 72


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Update on Standards
	7 Survey of Public Attitudes Towards Conduct in Public Life 2010
	8 Work Programme

